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Letter to Shareholders
Dear Shareholder,

The first half of 2018 results have been quite rewarding.

They are marked by internal growth driven by our own brands and by external growth due to the consolidation of 
LaBiotre as well as overall margin improvement.

Our own brands are achieving excellent results. Both Selerbe and BiOfta are experiencing important growth. 
Selerbe (+ 15.9%) is reflecting the success of loyal pharmacies through private-label sales.
BiOfta (+ 11.4%) is growing due to expansion in the range of existing products offerings, as well as through the new 
product Corneial Gocce Oculari.
Pharcos continues to be a cornerstone of our portfolio (+ 1.5%). 

Contract manufacturing, which accounts for 58.3% of Group sales, continues to grow (+3% BioDue, +20% LaBiotre), 
despite a slowdown due to investments completed in the first half (the investments in the cosmetic plant and in the 
solid form integrators plant have been completed).

The subsidiary LaBiotre totaled 1.4 million Euro revenues from contracts with third parties customers (with a 
20% growth on the first half 2017).

The choice to restructure the sales network is yielding the expected results, not only in economic terms but also in the 
qualitative and synergistic aspects that are essential for future growth.
The five-year contract signed in September with a global healthcare company is an example of this. 
The Group is achieving domestic as well as international growth (the first half recorded a 32.9% increase in foreign 
sales). 

The new products, the widespread presence on the domestic market, the investments in the international market, 
together with the great quality of our productions, allow us to look ahead with great optimism.

The new pharmaceutical product REWCAPTM is expected to achieve significant results, as evidenced by the patent 
obtained in China and constant positive feedback received from customers.
We will continue to promote this great little innovation, which facilitates the use of medical devices and food 
supplements. 

The Group continues to invest in future growth opportunities. 
In the first half 2018, BioDue invested 0.8 million Euro to improve the production efficiency.
The subsidiary LaBiotre is completing its investments for soft-gel production. Soft-gel production is a great investment 
(4.1 million Euro) which allows the Group to diversify its product portfolio. It will also be important for the further 
development of our own brands. The start-up of the production is scheduled for the end of 2018.

Finally, the Group is laying the foundation for important dimensional growth. 
BioDue acquired 43.42% ownership in Farcoderma S.r.l., an industrial company with production in the sterile class 
(with the aim of achieving controlling ownership in early 2019). 
This acquisition will bring great synergies and add to the Group’s production capacity (the 5,000 sqm plant in Torre 
Pallavicina will be completed in 2019).

The Company is listed on AIM (Alternative Investment Market) Italy. Among the objectives for 2018, listing on the 
MTA market, and eventually STAR segment, remains a must. 
BioDue is committed to reach this important milestone.

The Group’s mission is to become the reference player in the domestic market for the production of food supplements, 
while also carefully considering growth in the international market.

Vanni Benedetti
Chairman
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Introduction

BioDue Group consists of BioDue S.p.A. (the Parent company) together with its subsidiary LaBiotre, and the 
affiliates Pharcomed Corp. and Two Bee S.r.l. (accounted with the equity method). 
The half-year report as of June 30, 2018 has been prepared in accordance with the international accounting 
standard regarding interim reporting (IAS 34 – Interim Financial Reporting) and it does not include all the 
information required in the consolidated annual report, therefore, it must be read together with the consolidated 
financial statements as of December 31, 2017.

The Interim Directors’ report on operations, in addition to the indicators required for financial statements, 
in compliance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), also includes some alternative 
performance measures used by management to monitor and assess the Group’s performance, as detailed below. 

Alternative performance measures
In order to better assess its performance, the BioDue Group makes use of some alternative performance 
measures which are not identified as accounting measures under IFRS. Therefore, the determination criterion 
applied by the Group may differ from that adopted by other groups, and the balance may not be comparable. 
These alternative performance measures are derived exclusively from historical financial data and are 
determined in accordance with the Guidelines on Alternative Performance Measures issued by ESMA/2015/1415 
and adopted by CONSOB with communication no. 92543 of December 3, 2015. They refer exclusively to the 
performance for the reporting period of this Half-year report as well as the comparative periods, and not to the 
Group’s expected performance and are not to be considered as substitutes for IFRS measures. 
The definitions of the alternative performance measures (APM) adopted in the Half-year report are provided 
below:

EBITDA: Operating profit before Amortization and depreciation;
EBIT: Operating profit;

Net working capital: is defined as the sum of Inventories, Trade receivables and Other current assets, 
net of Trade payables and Other current liabilities;
Net invested capital: is defined as the sum of total amount of Net working capital and Net non-
current assets;
Net financial indebtedness: is defined as the sum of Non-current interest-bearing loans and 
borrowings, Current portions of non-current financial liabilities and Other current financial liabilities, 
net of Cash and cash equivalents, in accordance with the recommendations contained in the ESMA 
document no. 319 of 2013, implementing Regulation 2004/809/EC;

ROE: return on equity, calculated as the ratio between Net profit and previous year average Group 
shareholders’ equity, expressed as a percentage;
ROI: return on investment, calculated as the ratio between Operating profit and previous year average 
net invested capital, expressed as a percentage;
ROS: return on sales, calculated as the ratio between Operating profit and revenues from contracts 
with customers, expressed as a percentage.



Page 8 Interim Directors’ report on operations as of  June 30, 2018 

Significant events occurred during the first half of 2018

FEBRUARY
BioDue strengthens its managerial structure
BioDue strengthens its managerial structure through the appointment of Four managerial positions. This 
included BioDue’s appointment of the former administrative director to Chief Financial Officer, who has been 
part of BioDue Group since 2010.
In addition, three new managers were appointed from outside of the Group, each with a proven experience over 
ten years in Pharmaceutical sector. They have been appointed in the role of Director of Business development 
(focused on growth strategies of new Products and markets), Director of Operations for the brand Pharcos Italy 
and Director of Operations for the brand Biofta Italy, respectively. 

MARCH
BioDue obtains the certificate EN ISO 13485
BioDue obtains the certificate of EN ISO 13485 for its plant in via Caravaggio - Tavarnelle Val di Pesa (Florence), 
for the development and production of medical devices with its own brand name as well as third-party brand for 
oral, nasal, topical, vaginal and rectal use in solid forms , semi-solid and liquid (sterile and not). 
This certification is compulsory for the registration and sale of these medical devices in some important markets 
with interesting potential such as Russia, Saudi Arabia, Yemen, United Arab Emirates and Lebanon. It concerns 
the management of the organization of the entire production and distribution chain, from the supply of raw 
materials, to production, traceability, logistics, as well as the management of human resources and to contracts. 

APRIL
BioDue deliberates on Own Shares repurchases and Stock Options
BioDue deliberates:
-the proposal of the buyback and sale of its own shares,
-the incentive and loyalty plan called the “Stock Option plan 2018-2020”.

The reasons for the proposed buyback and sale of company shares include: 
• having a stock of own shares, in line with the strategy the company intends to pursue, allowing for possible 

extraordinary transactions and the allocation based on plans of loyalty of our own brands trade relations 
counterparts;

• operating on the market with a mid-term investment period, strategy and having the ability to maximize the 
value of the stock, by taking advantage of  market trends.

The Stock Option plan is an incentive program to foster the loyalty of Top management and Executives of the 
company and its subsidiaries. The Stock Option plan aligns management’s compensation with company results, 
thus incentivizing them to achieve the strategic objectives of the company.
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BioDue signs the Patent Box Agreement
BioDue signs the Patent Box Agreement with the Fiscal Authority for for its own brands Pharcos and BiOfta and 
for RewCapTM (Innovative pharmaceutical product able to mix liquid and solid substances with extreme ease and 
with advantages compared to traditional forms, www.rewcap.com, see press release on March 2, 2016).
Patent Box will allow a portion of income deriving from the use of BioDue’s own trademarks and patents to be 
tax exempt, in the amounts of 30% in 2015, 40% in 2016, 50% for the three-year period 2017-2019. 
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Parent company’s activities and the Group structure

Parent company’s activities

BioDue S.p.A. develops, manufactures and sells cosmetics, liquid food supplemnts, solid food supplements and 
medical devices. These are sold on behalf of domestic and international pharmaceutical Companies (Industrial 
division), as well as through the Group’s brands including Pharcos (dermatological sector), BiOfta (ophthalmic 
sector) and Selerbe (herbal Nutraceutical). 
The Company owns and operates in 17,000 sqm plants that are dedicated to industrial production and registered 
under Reg. CE 852/2004, GMP Certification (Good manufacturing Practice) and, from 2018, Certification EN 
ISO 13485.  
BioDue operates under the highest quality and safety standards required by European regulations (Code of 
Federal regulations, Title 21, Volume 2, part 111, of 01-04-2013) and it is also registered with the U.S. FDA 
Registration No. 10725095718). The physical separation of individual establishments, though concentrated in a 
single industrial district, constitutes a safeguard against potential  disasters. 

Consolidation area

Consolidated Interim Financial Statements as of June 30, 2018 and for the period then ended include: 
• BioDue S.p.A. (Parent company);
• Labiotre S.r.l., 51.2%, subsidiary (consolidated);
• Pharcomed Corp., 50.0% (joint venture accounted under the equity method); 
• Two Bee S.r.l., 50.0% (joint venture accounted under the equity method.

The following table highlights the consolidation area as of June 30, 2018, unchanged from December 31, 2017:

June 30, 2018 December 31, 2017

Company Group share Direct control share Group share Direct control share

Parent company

BioDue S.p.A. 100.00% 100.00%

Subsidiaries

Labiotre S.r.l. 51.20% 51.20% 51.20% 51.20%

Joint ventures (accounted under the equity method)

Pharcomed Corp. 50.00% 50.00% 50.00% 50.00%
Two Bee S.r.l. 50.00% 50.00% 50.00% 50.00%
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Pharcomed
Corp.

50%

Group structure
The following prospectus shows the perimeter of the BioDue Group:

• LaBiotre, 51.20% owned at December 31, 2017, was founded in 2011 in partnership with Labomar S.r.l. 
(active in the production and distribution of nutraceutical products) to guarantee the highest quality of raw 
materials in its products. LaBiotre extracts plant active ingredients with proprietary technology and know-
how exclusively for the final customer. 
LaBiotre provides raw materials to BioDue for Selerbe products and natural vegetable extracts to be used 
in the production cycle. In December 2017 the Parent company Biodue S.p.A. obtained the majority of 
the capital, providing a 1 million Euro capital infusion. From the end of 2017, therefore, LaBiotre is fully 
consolidated in the Group consolidated financial statements.
• Pharcomed Corp., established in Miami (FL) with a share capital of 40,000 USD on January 2017 in 
joint venture (50/50) with the Suco Group Int. (formerly Pharcos Distributor from 1996). It distributes as 
an exclusive Pharcos branded products in the American continent: 
– directly on the US market; 
– through local distributors in other countries.  
In May 2017 Pharcomed Corp. concluded corporate agreements with local business partners for the 
establishment of Pharcomed Mexico SA de CV, a joint venture under Mexican law held jointly (50% 
each). In accordance with trade agreements, in addition, Pharcomed Mexico has been granted exclusive 
Pharcomed products for Mexican territory. Pharcomed Mexico is based in Mexico City and had an 
initial share capital of 100,000 Mexican Pesos. Pharcomed Mexico received also cash and goods from 
its hareholders for a value of around US $140 thousand. Pharcomed Corp. is accounted under the equity 
method in the consolidated financial statements.
• Two Bee S.r.l. established on March 10, 2017 as a joint venture with Fufarma Albania (IMC Group) in 
order to realize a new plant for the pharmaceutical production of capsules and tablets in Tirana. Two Bee 
S.r.l. is accounted for under the equity method in the consolidated financial statements.

BioDue
S.p.A.

LaBiotre
S.r.l.
51.2%

Two Bee
S.r.l.

50%

Pharcomed
Mexico SA

50%



Page 12 Interim Directors’ report on operations as of  June 30, 2018 

Income and financial highlights for the first half of 2018

The Group main economic figures are reported in the following table.

(in thousands of Euro)      

 June 30, 
2018 % June 30, 

2017 % %
Change

Revenues from contracts with customers 20,886 99.7% 18,464 99.3% 13.1%

Other revenues 58 0.3% 127 0.7% -54.3%
TOTAL REVENUES 20,944 100.0% 18,591 100.0% 12.7%
Cost of goods sold (8,928) -42.6% (8,355) -44.9% 6.9%
Service costs (4,538) -21.7% (4,426) -23.8% 2.5%
Personnel costs (3,372) -16.1% (2,877) -15.5% 17.2%
Other operating costs (563) -2.7% (517) -2.8% 8.9%
EBITDA (*) 3,543 16.9% 2,416 13.0% 46.6%
Depreciation and amortization (996) -4.8% (675) -3.6% 47.6%
EBIT (**) 2,547 12.2% 1,741 9.4% 46.3%
Financial income 48 0.2% 9 0.0% >100%
Financial expenses (114) -0.5% (96) -0.5% 18.8%
Share of profit of associates and joint ventures 0 0.0% 125 0.7% -100.0%
PROFIT BEFORE TAXES 2,481 11.8% 1,779 9.6% 39.5%
Income taxes (648) -3.1% (557) -3.0% 16.3%
NET PROFIT FOR THE PERIOD 1,833 8.8% 1,222 6.6% 50.0%
Net profit attributable to non-controlling interests 73 0.3% 0 0.0%  
NET PROFIT ATTRIBUTABLE TO EQUITY 
HOLDERS OF THE PARENT 1,760 8.4% 1,222 6.6% 44.0%

(*) EBITDA indicates the result before financial income and expenses, income taxes and depreciation and amortization. EBITDA is used by 
Directors to monitor and evaluate the operational performance of the business. Since EBITDA is not identified as an accounting measure within 
the International IFRS accounting standards, it should not be considered an alternative measure for evaluating the performance of the Company’s 
operating results. Since the composition of EBITDA is not regulated by the accounting Standards, the criterion of determination applied by the 
company may not be homogeneous with that adopted by other entities and therefore not be comparable with them.

(**) EBIT indicates the result before the financial income and expenses and income taxes. EBIT is the indicator used by Directors to monitor 
and evaluate the operational performance of the business. Since EBIT is not identified as an accounting measure within the International IFRS 
accounting standards, it should not be considered an alternative measure for evaluating the performance of the Company’s operating results. 
Since the composition of EBIT is not regulated by the accounting Standards, the criterion of determination applied by the company may not be 
homogeneous with that adopted by other entities and therefore not be comparable with them.
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The reclassified Statements of Financial Position aggregate the Group assets and liabilities according to the 
criterion of functionality to the management of the company. This is divided conventionally in three fundamental 
functions: the investment function, the operational function and the financing function. The Directors believe 
that the proposed scheme is useful since it identifies the financial resources (owned and of third parties) and the 
use of those in the assets and in the operations.  

(in thousands of Euro)   

 June 30, 2018 December 31, 
2017

CURRENT ASSETS      
Inventories 6,842 5,901
Trade receivables 12,785 11,299
Other current assets 755 834
TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS 20,382 18,034

CURRENT LIABILITIES   

Trade payables 7,372 7,131
Other current liabilities 1,823 1,222

TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES 9,195 8,353

NET WORKING CAPITAL (A)  (*) 11,187 9,681
Tangible and Intangible assets 20,419 17,130
Goodwill 1,381 1,381
Other non current assets and liabilities (549) (587)
NET NON-CURRENT ASSETS (B)   (**) 21,250 17,924
NET INVESTED CAPITAL (A+B) (***) 32,437 27,605

(in thousands of Euro)   

 June 30, 2018 December 31, 
2017

GROUP SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY   
Share capital 3,986 4,006
Reserves 13,782 10,362
Net profit attributable to equity holders of the parent 1,760 4,126
TOTAL GROUP SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY 19,528 18,494

Share capital, reserves and net profit of non-controlling interests 2,106 2,033

TOTAL SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY 21,634 20,527
Provisions for risks and charges and Employees’ benefit liabilities 1,030 935

Net financial indebtedness (***) 9,773 6,143

TOTAL SOURCES OF FINANCING 32,437 27,605

(*) Net working capital is obtained as a difference between current assets and current liabilities excluding financial assets and liabilities. Net working 
capital is not identified as an accounting measure under reference accounting standards. It is specified that it was determined in accordance with 
the recommendations set out in the ESMA update of the CESR Recommendations. The consistent implementation of Commission Regulation (EC) 
No 809/2004 Implementing the Prospectus Directive” of  March 20, 2013 (already recommendation of CESR 05-054b of February 10, 2005). The 
criterion of determination applied by the company may not be homogeneous with that adopted by other entities and, therefore, the balance obtained 
by the company may not be comparable with that determined by the latter. 
(**) Net non-current assets are obtained as the sum of: tangible and intangible assets (with separate indication of goodwill), and other non-current 
assets and liabilities. 
(***) Net invested capital is obtained as the sum of Net working capital and Net non.current assets. Net invested capital is not identified as an 
accounting measure under reference accounting standards. The criterion of determination applied by the company may not be homogeneous with 
that adopted by other entities and, therefore, the balance obtained by the company may not be comparable with that determined by the latter. 
(****) In accordance with the communication N. DEM/6064293 of July 28, 2006 issued by CONSOB, it is stated that net financial indebtedness is 
obtained as the sum of Non current interest-bearing loans and borrowings, Current portions of non current financial liabilities, net of Cash and cash 
equivalents.
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Consolidated statement of cash flows

(in thousands of Euro)   

 CASH FLOWS June 30, 2018 June 30, 2017
NET PROFIT FOR THE PERIOD 1,833 1,222
Adjustments to reconcile net profit for the period to net cash 
from operating activities 1,768 1,349

Depreciation and amortization 996 675
Income taxes 648 557
Financial income and expenses 66 87

Provision for bad debt 58 30

Changes in operating assets and liabilities: (2,216) (2,462)
Inventories (941) (831)

Trade receivables (1,544) (1,519)

Trade payables 241 (438)
Employees’ benefits payments 64 4
Other assets and liabilities (36) 322
Other adjustments: (66) (87)
Financial expenses paid net of financial income (66) (87)
(Tax paid) - -
NET CASH FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 1,319 22
Cash flow used in investing activities:   
Additions to intangible assets (29) (21)
Additions to property, plant and equipment (4,113) (1,618)
Net change in financial assets - (121)
Proceeds from the sale of tangible assets 103 870
NET CASH USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES (4,039) (890)
Cash flow from financing activities:   
Net change in financial liabilities 377 247
Increase in interest-bearing loans and borrowings 1,750 2,436
(Decrease in interest-bearing loans and borrowings) (729) (431)
Increase in leasing 2,630 70
(Decrease from the sale of leasing) (285) (772)
Net change in other non-current financial liabilities (247) (242)
Dividends paid to Parent company shareholders (669) (669)
NET CASH FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES 2,827 639
INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 107 (229)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE BEGINNING OF THE YEAR 1,035 763
Increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 107 (229)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END OF THE PERIOD 1,142 534
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Net financial indebtedness

The aforementioned cash flows therefore determine a net financial indebtedness (as by Consob’s requirements 
no DEM/6064293) as of June 30, 2018 as in the following table.

(in thousands of Euro)   

 June 30, 2018 December 31, 
2017

A. Cash - 27 
B. Cash equivalents 1,142 1,009 
C. Liquidity (A) + (B) 1,142 1,036 

D. Current bank debt 1,563 1,381 

E. Current portions of non current debt 1,885 1,238 

Leasing 434 158 

Bank loans 1,451 1,080 
F. Other current financial debt - 247 
G. Current financial debt (D) + (E) + (F) 3,448 2,866 
H. Net current financial indebtedness (G) – (C) 2,306 1,830 
I. Non current loans and borrowings 7,467 4,313 

Leasing 2,730 227 
Bank loans 4,737 4,086 

J. Other non current loans - - 
K. Non current financial indebtedness (I) + (J) 7,467 4,313 
L. Net financial indebtedness (H) + (K) 9,773 6,143 
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In the six months period ended as of 2018 and 2017, Revenues from contracts with customers amount to 20,886 
thousand Euro and 18,464 thousand Euro respectively, which is an increase of 2,468 thousand Euro or 13.1%. 
The following table provides the breakdown by category and brand:

(in thousands of Euro)      

Revenues from contracts with 
customers

June 30, 
2018 % June 30, 

2017 % Change %
Change

Industrial  10,781 51.6%  10,468 56.7% 313 3.0%
Pharcos  3,974 19.0%  3,914 21.2% 60 1.5%
Selerbe  3,175 15.2%  2,739 14.8% 436 15.9%
BiOfta  1,441 6.9%  1,293 7.0% 148 11.4%
Other  107 0.5%  50 0.3% 57 >100%
Total revenues from contracts 
with customers of BioDue  19,478 93.3%  18,464 100.0%  1,014 5.5%

Revenues from contracts with customers 
of LaBiotre (third parties only)  1,408 6.7%  1,408  

Total consolidated revenues from 
contracts with customers 20,886 100.0%  18,464 100.0%  2,422 13.1%

In the first half of 2018, consolidated revenues from contracts with customers totaled 20.9 million Euro, growing 
by 2.4 million Euro (with an increase of +13.1% compared to the first half of 2017).

In particular:
• Industrial revenues amount to 10.8 million Euro, (+3.0%), following the growth path recorded in the first 

quarter of 2018;
• Pharcos revenues amount to 4 million Euro;
• Selerbe revenues amount to 3.2 million Euro (+15.9%); the growth is mainly due to the sales of private-label 

products to pharmacists and herbalists;
• BiOfta revenues amount to 1.4 million Euro, (+11.4%), confirming the work undertaken by the commercial 

network on ophthalmologists.

Revenues breakdown by category and brand confirms the own brands Pharcos, Selerbe and Biofta relevant 
growth rates (+ 7.5% compared to 2017). 

Finally, it is important to note the effect of the newly consolidated subsidiary LaBiotre (consolidated since 
December 31, 2017, and not included in the consolidated income statement of the prior period). LaBiotre has 
achieved 1.4 million Euro revenues with third parties (+20% compared to the first half of 2017 consolidated 
results). 

Consolidated revenues breakdown by geography shows a +32.9% growth in the foreign component. 
This is greater than the +10.4% growth in domestic revenues, in line with the strategy to strengthen the 
internationalization process and open new markets.  

The following table shows the distinction between domestic and foreign revenues.

(in thousands of Euro)      

Revenues from contracts with 
customers

June 30, 
2018 % June 30, 

2017 % Change %
Change

Domestic 17,927 85.8% 16,238 87.9% 1,689 10.4%
Rest of the World 2,959 14.2% 2,226 12.1% 733 32.9%
Total consolidated revenues from 
contracts with customers  20,886 100.0%  18,464 100.0% 2,422 13.1%
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EBITDA amounted to 3.5 million Euro, 16.9% of total revenues. It increased in comparison to 2017 (2.4 million 
Euro, 13.0% of total revenues). The growth is mainly due to: higher revenues in relative terms of the own brand 
products, higher programmed efficiencies of the own brands sales network and consolidation of the subsidiary 
LaBiotre. 

Amortization and depreciation amounted to 1 million Euro, compared to 0.7 million Euro in the first half of 
2017. The increase (0.3 million Euro) is due to the amortization and depreciation of the assets of LaBiotre, 
consolidated in the Income Statement starting from 2018 (0.1 million Euro) and the amortization of know-how 
and machinery values arising from the Purchase Price Allocation of the subsidiary LaBiotre (0.2 million Euro). 

EBIT reached the amount of 2.5 million Euro, 12.2% of total revenues (1.7 million Euro in the first half of 2017, 
9.4% of total revenues). 

Income taxes, amounting to 0.6 million Euro, decrease by about 0.1 million Euro (tax rate goes from 31% to 
26%) in connection with the effect of the Patent Box Agreement, whose benefit is applied on results of the years 
2015, 2016, 2017 and for the first half of 2018.

Net profit amounted to 1.8 million Euro, equal to 5.7% of total revenues (1.2 million Euro in the first half of 2017, 
6.6% of total revenues).

Capital structure of the Parent company as of June 30, 2018 is even more solid than in the previous period, with 
a Net invested capital of 21.2 million Euro (18.0 million Euro).
Equity was further strengthened to 21.6 million Euro (net of dividend distribution 2017 for 0.7 million Euro).

Equity is able to cover the entire net non-current assets, amounting to 21.2 million Euro.
Net working capital, equal to 11.2 million Euro (9.7 million as of June 30, 2017) increased mainly due to the 
higher volumes.

Looking to cash flows, during the period considered, the Group generated cash flows from operations in the 
amount of 1.3 million Euro (compared to zero million Euro in the first half of 2017), as a consequence of the 
income and capital dynamics above mentioned. 

Investment activity, however, required 4,1 million Euro, as a consequence of: 
• the investment made by the subsidiary LaBiotre for soft-gel production in the amount of 2,6 million Euro 

which was accounted for under IFRS 16 leasing;
• plants-machines-equipment, 0.8 million Euro, to improve production efficiency;
• construction in progress, 0.7 million Euro (ascribed mainly to LaBiotre for the production of Soft-gel).

Net cash flows from financing activities amounted to 2.8 million Euro, due to: an increase in bank debts of 0.4 
million Euro, an increase in non-current bank debts by 1 million Euro, a 0.7 million Euro dividends distribution, 
and net leasing variation and other financial liabilities of 2.3 million Euro. 
As a result, cash and cash equivalents reached 1 million Euro increasing by 0.1 million Euro, from 1.0 million 
Euro as of December 31, 2017.

Net financial indebtedness as of June 30, 2018 amounted to 9.8 million Euro (6.1 million Euro as of June 30, 
2017). It consists of:
- non-current financial indebtedness, 7.5 million Euro (4.3 million Euro as of June 30, 2017);
- current financial debt, 3.4 million Euro (2.9 million Euro as of June 30, 2017);
- cash and cash equivalents, 1.1 million Euro (1 million Euro as of June 30, 2017).

Net financial indebtedness increased by 3.7 million Euro; the increase is mainly due to investments made in the 
period and to the dividends paid.
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Financial and income indicators

The following table shows the trend of the main financial and income indicators as of June 30, 2018 and as of 
June 30, 2017.
These indicators are calculated from the Financial and Income Statements and, in order to allow a better 
understanding of their trend, they must be read together with the alternative performance indices and the 
indicators envisaged by the Reference Accounting Standards (IFRS) described in this document. 

(in thousands of Euro)   

Consolidated financial and income indicators June 30, 2018 June 30, 2017
ROE 8.6% 8.1%
(Net profit - Group / Previous year group shareholders’ equity)   
ROI 9.2% 8.2%
(EBIT / Previous year net invested capital)   
ROS 12.2% 9.4%

(EBIT / Revenues from contracts with customers)   
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Significant events occurring after the first half of 2018

JULY
BioDue acquires 43.42% of ownership in the company Farcoderma S.r.l.
BioDue acquires 43.42% of ownership in Farcoderma for 1,350 thousand Euro. Farcoderma is a company that 
produces nutritional supplements, medical devices, cosmetics and feeding products for veterinary use. Its 
production plants are based in the province of Bergamo.
Farcoderma in 2017 achieved the following results:
-Revenues from contracts with customers, 6 million Euro;
-EBITDA, 1.6 million Euro (equal to 27.1% of total revenues);
-Net financial indebtedness of 0.7 million Euro.
Agreements are being negotiated which will lead to the sharing of an industrial plan and the acquisition of the 
control of Farcoderma by Biodue. 
The additional cost that Biodue will support for acquiring control in Farcoderma will not exceed 1,650 thousand 
Euro. This operation is financed both by the company’s resources and medium-term financial indebtedness. 

AUGUST
BioDue obtains the twenty-year patent concession REWCAPTM for the Chinese market
BioDue obtains the twenty-year patent concession REWCAPTM for the Chinese market in August. 
BioDue is already on the Chinese market with REWCAPTM, having signed an important contract with a 
significant multinational operating in the Chinese pharmaceutical industry for the delivery of both: production 
machines using REWCAPTM and the first important REWCAPTM packaging quantities. 
REWCAPTM is a new and innovative pharmaceutical product, providing a significant competitive advantage in 
the market.  
The inverted capsule REWCAPTM is able to mix liquid and solid substances with extreme ease and with some 
advantages compared to traditional forms.
REWCAPTM is applicable to food supplements in liquid form, cosmetics and medical devices. 

SEPTEMBER
BioDue signs a licensing and supply agreement with a global healthcare company
BioDue signs an exclusive licensing and supply agreement with a global healthcare company for several countries 
including Russia, Ukraine and CIS area countries. The agreement grants marketing rights on a patented 
respiratory Medical Device.
Under the agreement, licensee will take care of distribution, marketing and promotion activities for the 
mentioned product and BioDue will take care of the production.
Through this agreement, which provides for a five-year long-term partnership, BioDue estimates a total potential 
turnover between 3.5 and 4.5 million Euro.
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Outlook

Based on the encouraging trend in sales for the first half of 2018 and the better improved profitability, BioDue 
expects to continue to record both a growing turnover on the basis of its estimates and to maintain (if not further 
improve) its profitability margins for the second half of 2018. 

The group expects to benefit from the Parent company’s growth in turnover and margin, the economic results of 
the constantly growing subsidiary Labiotre and new synergies arising from the activities that will be contributed 
by the related company Farcoderma S.r.l.. 

Main risks and uncertainties affecting Group operations and 
financial conditions

BioDue’s Group has developed risk management procedures in the most exposed areas which could negatively 
impact the economic and financial conditions of the Group itself. 

Risks related to the field of activity

Risks related to macroeconomic and economic situation of activity
The world economy is slowing down with different dynamics in the different geographic areas.
The Group, in order to mitigate the negative effects of the world macroeconomic scenario, continues its 
strategies. These include: expanding its presence in those markets where the growth rates of the economy still 
remain high consolidating the Competitive positioning of its products, as well as leveraging research activity and 
production efficiency. 

Risks related to the high level of market competition
In recent years, the competitiveness of markets in which the Group operates has increased significantly, 
especially in terms of price, in addition to contraction of the world demand. 
The Group sought and seeks to tackle this risk through an offer of high-quality, innovative, economical, reliable 
and safe products. 

Risks related to the increase in the price of raw materials
Production costs are exposed to the risk of fluctuation in commodity prices. In the event that the group would be 
unable to pass on increases in commodity price, its economic and financial situation would be affected. 

Risks related to market seasonal fluctuations
Group business is not exposed to market seasonal fluctuations.

Risk related to the regulatory framework
Group products are subject to numerous domestic and international rules and safety regulations. The Group’s 
production sites are also subject to stringent regulations on waste disposal, water discharges and other 
pollutants. 
The issuing of stricter rules could put current products out of the market, forcing producers to support 
investment in product renewals and/or investment in restructuring/adaptation of production plants.
In order to cope with these risks, the Group always invested in research and development of innovative products, 
anticipating any restriction in current regulations.
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Risks related to the Group operations

Risks associated with changing customer preferences
Group success depend on offering products that meet consumer tastes and needs. If the Group products would 
not meet the customer’s liking, revenues would decrease. As a result of more aggressive trade policies in terms of 
discounts, there would be lower margins, with negative impacts on the economic and financial situation. 
In order to cope with these risks, the Group always invests in intense research and development activities and 
introduce innovative products, in order to meet customer needs and to anticipate market trends.

Risks related to the legal protection of trademarks, licenses and patents
The Group legally protects its products and brands all over the world. In some countries where the Group 
operates there is no legislation aimed at guaranteeing certain levels of intellectual property protection.
This could make the Group implemented protection measures insufficient in the event of misuse by third parties. 
Illegal actions of plagiarism by competitors could also adversely affect the Group sales.

Risks related to supplier dependence
The Group uses several raw materials suppliers for its activities. Group activity is dependent on its suppliers 
capacity to guarantee quality standards and specifications required for products, as well as delivery times.
Any disruption in availability of the supplied products, quality standards failure, specifications failure or delivery 
times failure by suppliers could increase supply prices, causing interruptions and negatively affecting the Group’s 
activities.
Although the Group’s revenue generated by the contribution of third parties and strategic partners is limited, the 
use of products from third-party suppliers entails certain additional risks and charges for the Group. These risks 
include possible delays in supplies, failures in quality control or level of diligence and lack of adequate resources.
In addition, interruptions in the supply of raw materials or finished products could jeopardize the Group’s 
production and distribution, with consequent adverse effects on the Group’s image and activity.
At the same time, other factors, such as the loss of business relationships, the inability to develop new 
relationships, or even factors beyond the control of the Group, such as strikes, interruptions in transport, 
political events or catastrophes may cause delays in supplies, or give rise to significant adverse effects on the 
Group’s economic and financial situation.

Risks related to industrial plants
The Group’s industrial plants are subject to operational risks, including, but not limited to: plant failures, failure 
to comply with applicable legislation, revocation of permits and licences, lack of manpower, catastrophes , 
sabotage, attacks or significant interruptions in the supply of raw materials or components.
Any interruption in the production activity could have a negative impact on the Group’s economic and financial 
situation.
Operational risks associated with industrial plants are managed by insurance contracts specific to each plant in 
accordance with their importance to the total Group.

Country risk
The Group is exposed to risks associated with internationalization, such as exposure to local economic and 
political conditions, compliance with different tax regimes, the creation of customer barriers or, more generally, 
the introduction of new restrictions.
All these factors may have negative influences on the Group’s economic and financial situation.
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Risks associated with product liability and risks associated with defects in products
In the countries where the Group operates, it is exposed to product liability risks.
Any future acceptance of claims that exceed the existing insurance coverage on product liability may have 
adverse effects on the Group’s economic and financial situation.
Currently, there is no relevant economic dispute. In recent years, the only cases of disputes that saw the 
activation of insurance coverage were compensation from defective products.

Risks related to trade unions
The Group operates in an industrial context with the presence of trade unions, and it is potentially exposed to the 
risk of strikes and interruptions in production activity.
The Group has not undergone significant blocks of production due to strikes.
In order to avoid, as far as possible, the risk of interruption in production, the Group has always established an 
open  confrontation and dialogue relationship with the trade unions.

Data management risks
The Group is exposed to the risk of unauthorized access/use of its data, which may have a negative impact on its 
profitability.
The Group has developed operational policies and technical security measures to ensure adequate protection of 
its business data.

Risks related to the lack of adoption of the D. Lgs. 231/2001 organization, management and control models.
As of today, the Group has not adopted the model of organization, management and control provided by the D. 
Lgs. 231/2001.
The lack of adoption may expose the Group to penalties provided for by the regulations when institutions are 
found liable.
However, the Group’s activity is carried out in compliance with the regulations on occupational safety and 
environmental protection.

Financial risks

Risks related to financial indebtedness
The Group’s exposure to financial indebtedness could in the future negatively affect its activity, limiting the 
Group possibility to get more funding or making the Group able to obtain more funding only under more adverse 
conditions.

Liquidity risk
This risk is linked to the possible difficulties that the Group may encounter in obtaining, in the right time, 
funding to support operational activities.
Cash flows and financing needs are highly monitored, with the aim of guaranteeing efficient and effective 
management of financial resources.

Exchange rate risks
The Group carries out operations in currencies other than Euro. This exposes the Group to the risk arising from 
fluctuations in exchange rates between different currencies.

Risks related to interest rates
The Group holds assets and liabilities sensitive to changes in interest rates. These assets and liabilities are 
necessary for the management of liquidity and financial requirements.
These assets and liabilities are subject to a rate risk that is in part mitigated through fixed rate financing 
contracts.
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Credit risk
The Group is exposed to the risk that the claims may not be honored at maturity, because of the obligator 
financial conditions.
The credit risk is related to the increase in seniority of credits, the risk of insolvency and the increase in claims 
under insolvency proceedings.
The consequent impairment may bring to delete the credit.
The Group adopts a credit management policy aimed to: assess customers reliability, monitor expected recovery 
flows, issue payment reminders, allow extended credit conditions where deemed necessary or appropriate and 
manage legal claims litigation.

Research and development

Under paragraph 1, third subparagraph, of art. 2428 of Civil Code, the Group attests that during the first half 
of 2018 research and development activities continue on projects deemed to be particularly innovative, both 
through employees and consultants.
Costs incurred for research and development are not capitalized, but are naturally included in the operating costs 
and therefore in the consolidated statement of income.

Related party transactions

Related party transactions are disclosed in the interim condensed consolidated financial statements. 
They do not include atypical or unusual operations. They are regulated under market conditions and are 
described in the relevant note to which it is referred.

Tavarnelle Val Di Pesa (Florence), September 24, 2018

Vanni Benedetti
Chairman of the Board of Directors of Biodue S.p.A.
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Financial statements

Consolidated statement of financial position - Assets

Assets

(in thousands of Euro)     

ASSETS Notes June 30, 
2018

of which with  
related parties 

(See Note 8)

December 
31, 2017

of which with  
related parties 

(See Note 8)

NON CURRENT ASSETS    
Plant, equipment and machinery 5.1 17,884 50 14,444
Goodwill 5.2 1,381 1,381
Intangible assets 5.2 2,339 2,484
Investment property 5.3 92 98
Investments in associates and a joint ventures 5.4 104 104
Other non current assets 5.5 38 51
Deferred tax assets 5.6 162 171
TOTAL NON CURRENT ASSETS  22,000 18,733
CURRENT ASSETS    
Inventories 5.7 6,842 5,901
Trade receivables 5.8 12,785 1,107 11,299 762

Tax receivables 5.9 571 779
Other current assets 5.10 184 55
Cash and cash equivalents 5.11 1,142 1,035
TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS  21,524 19,069
TOTAL ASSETS  43,524 37,802
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Consolidated statement of financial position – 

Liabilities and Shareholders’ equity

(in thousands of Euro)     

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ 
EQUITY

Notes June 30, 
2018

of which with  
related parties 

(See Note 8)

December 
31, 2017

of which with  
related parties 

(See Note 8)

SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY    
Share capital  3,986 4,006
Reserves  13,782 10,362
Net profit attributable to equity holders of the 
parent

 1,760 4,126

TOTAL GROUP SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY  19,528 18,494
Share capital and reserves of non-controlling 
interests

 2,033 2,033

Net profit of non-controlling interests  73 -
TOTAL NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS  2,106 2,033 
TOTAL SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY 5.12 21,634 20,527
NON CURRENT LIABILITIES    
Non current interest-bearing loans and borrowings 5.14 7,467 4,312
Provisions for risks and charges 5.15 636 605
Employees’ benefit liabilities 5.16 394 330
Deferred tax liabilities 5.17 750 809
TOTAL NON CURRENT LIABILITIES  9,247 6,056
CURRENT LIABILITIES    
Trade payables 5.18 7,372 1,821 7,131 1,777
Current interest-bearing loans and borrowings 5.19 3,448 2,619
Other current financial liabilities 5.19 - 247
Tax payables 5.20 844 318
Other current liabilities 5.21 979 904
TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES  12,643 11,219
TOTAL LIABILITIES  21,890 17,275
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND 
SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

 43,524 37,802
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Consolidated statement of income

(in thousands of Euro)     

Notes June 30, 
2018

of which with  
related parties 

(See Note 9)

June 30, 
2017

of which with  
related parties 

(See Note 9)

Revenues from contracts with customers 6.1 20,886 724 18,417 239
Other revenues 6.2 58 174 72
TOTAL REVENUES  20,944 18,591  
Cost of goods sold 6.3 (8,928) (2.235) (8,355) (3,421)
Service costs 6.4 (4,538) 24 (4,426) (75)

Personnel costs 6.5 (3,372) (2,877)  

Other operating costs 6.6 (563) (91) (517) (46)
Depreciation and amortization 6.7 (996) (1) (675)  
OPERATING PROFIT  2,547 1,741  
Financial expenses 6.8 (114) (15) (96) (3)

Financial income 6.8 48 9  
Share of profit of associates and joint ventures 6.8 - 125  
PROFIT BEFORE TAXES  2,481 1,779  
Income taxes 6.9 (648) (557)  
NET PROFIT FOR THE PERIOD  1,833 1,222  
Net profit attributable to non controlling interests  73  -  
NET PROFIT ATTRIBUTABLE TO EQUITY 
HOLDERS OF THE PARENT

 1,760 1,222  

  
Basic earnings per share – ordinary shares 6.10 0.16 0.11  
Diluted earnings per share – ordinary shares 6.10 0.16 0.11  



Page 8 Interim condensed consolidated financial statements as of June 30, 2018

Consolidated statament of comprehensive income

(in thousands of Euro)   

Note June 30, 2018 June 30, 2017

Net profit for the period  1,833 1,222 
 of which    
Non-controlling interests  73 -   
Equity holders of the parent  1,760 1,222 
    

Other comprehensive income/losses   

- Other comprehensive income/losses that will be subsequently 
reclassified to profit/loss for the period                     -                      -   

- Other comprehensive income/losses that will not be subsequently 
reclassified to profit/loss for the period  (37) 39 

Total other comprehensive income/losses for the period (37) 39 
    

Non-controlling interests                    -                     -   
Equity holders of the parent  (37) 39 
Total comprehensive income for the period, net of taxes 1,796 1,261 
 of which    
Non-controlling interests  73                   -   
Equity holders of the parent  1,723 1,261 
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Consolidated statement of cash flows

(in thousands of Euro)   

 CASH FLOWS June 30, 2018 June 30, 2017
NET PROFIT FOR THE PERIOD 1,833 1,222
Adjustments to reconcile net profit for the period to net cash 
from operating activities 1,768 1,349

Depreciation and amortization 996 675
Income taxes 648 557
Financial income and expenses 66 87

Provision for bad debt 58 30

Changes in operating assets and liabilities: (2,216) (2,462)
Inventories (941) (831)

Trade receivables (1,544) (1,519)

Trade payables 241 (438)
Employees’ benefits payments 64 4
Other assets and liabilities (36) 322
Other adjustments: (66) (87)
Financial expenses: paid net of financial income (66) (87)
(Tax paid) - -
NET CASH FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 1,319 22
Of which with related parties (1,894) (4,308)

Cash flow used in investing activities:   

Additions to intangible assets (29) (21)
Additions to property, plant and equipment (4,113) (1,618)
Net change in financial assets - (121)
Proceeds from the sale of tangible assets 103 870
NET CASH USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES (4,039) (890)
of which with related parties (51) -
Cash flow from financing activities:   
Net change in financial liabilities 377 247
Increase in interest-bearing loans and borrowings 1.750 2,436
(Decrease in interest-bearing loans and borrowings) (729) (431)
Increase in leasing 2.630 70
(Decrease from the sale of leasing) (285) (772)
Net change in other non-current financial liabilities (247) (242)
Dividends paid to Parent company shareholders (669) (669)
NET CASH FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES 2,827 639
of which with related parties - -
INCREASE / (DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 107 (229)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE BEGINNING OF THE YEAR 1,035 763
Increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 107 (229)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END OF THE PERIOD 1,142 534
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Consolidated statement of changes in equity

Share 
capital 

Share 
capital 

contribu-
tions

Other 
reserves

IAS 19 
Reserve

Net profit 
for the 
period

Group’s  
equity

Minority 
interests Total equity

As of January 1, 
2017

4,006 3,594 5,317 (85) 2,206 15,038 - 15,038

Allocation of results   2,206  (2,206) - - -

Net profit for the 
period

    1,222 1,222 - 1,222

Other comprehensive 
income

  39 - 39 - 39

Total comprehensive 
income

- - - 39 1,222 1,261 - 1,261

Dividend paid   (669)   (669)  (669)

As of June 30, 
2017

4,006 3,594 6,854 (46) 1,222 15,630 - 15,630

Share 
capital 

Share 
capital 

contribu-
tions

Other 
reserves

IAS 19 
Reserve

Net profit 
for the 
period

Group’s  
equity

Minority 
interests Total equity

As of January 1, 
2018

4,006 3,594 6,855 (86) 4,125 18,494 2,033 20,527

Allocation of results   4,125  (4,125) - - -

Net profit for the 
period

    1,760 1,760 73 1,833

Other comprehensive 
income

  (37) - (37) - (37)

Total comprehensive 
income

- - - (37) 1,760 1,723 73 1,796

Dividend paid   (669)   (669)  (669)

Other (20)  -   (20) (20)

As of June 30, 
2018

3,986 3,594 10,311 (123) 1,760 19,528 2,106 21,634
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Explanatory notes to the interim condensed consolidated 

financial statements

1. Introduction
1.1 Parent company and Group notes
BioDue S.p.A., parent company, is a legal entity subject to the laws of the Republic of Italy, registered office in 
Via Ambrogio Lorenzetti 3/A, Tavernelle Val di Pesa (Florence), listed on AIM Italy (Alternative Investment 
Market).
The interim condensed consolidated financial statements as of the first half of 2018 have been approved by the 
Board of Directors on September 24, 2018.

BioDue S.p.A. develops, manufactures and sells cosmetics, liquid food suppplements, solid food supplements 
and medical devices. These are sold on behalf of domestic and international pharmaceutical Companies 
(Industrial division) as well as though the Group’s brands including Pharcos (dermatological sector), BiOfta 
(ophthalmic sector) and Selerbe (herbal Nutraceutical). 
The Company own and operates in 17,000 sqm own plants that are dedicated to industrial production and 
registered under Reg. CE 852/2004, GMP Certification (Good manufacturing Practice) and, from 2018, 
Certification EN ISO 13485. 
BioDue operates under the highest quality and safety standards required by European regulations (Code of 
Federal regulations, Title 21, Volume 2, part 111, of 01-04-2013) and it is also registered with the U.S. FDA 
Registration No. 10725095718). The physical separation of individual establishments, though concentrated in a 
single industrial district, constitutes an important safeguard against potential disasters.

The following prospectus shows the consolidation area (delimited by the blue line for consolidated subsidiaries) 
of the BioDue Group as of June 30, 2018:

BioDue
S.p.A.

LaBiotre
S.r.l.
51.2%

Two Bee
S.r.l.

50%

Pharcomed
Mexico SA

50%

Pharcomed
Mexico SA

50%
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• LaBiotre, 51.20% owned at December 31, 2017, was founded in 2011 in partnership with Labomar S.r.l. 
(active in the production and distribution of nutraceutical products) to guarantee the highest quality of raw 
materials in its products. LaBiotre extracts plant active ingredients with proprietary technology and know-
how exclusively for the final customer. 
LaBiotre provides raw materials to BioDue for Selerbe products and natural vegetable extracts to be used 
in the production cycle. In December 2017 the Parent company Biodue S.p.A. obtained the majority of the 
capital by providing a 1 million Euro capital infusion. From the end of 2017, therefore, LaBiotre is fully 
consolidated in the Group financial statements.
• Pharcomed Corp.,  established in Miami (FL) with a share capital of 40,000 USD on January 2017 in 
joint venture (50/50) with the Suco Group Int. (formerly Pharcos Distributor from 1996). It distributes as 
an exclusive Pharcos branded products in the American continent: 
– directly on the US market; 
– through local distributors in other countries.  
In May 2017 Pharcomed Corp. concluded corporate agreements with local business partners for the 
establishment of Pharcomed Mexico SA de CV, a joint venture under Mexican law held jointly (50% 
each). In accordance with trade agreements, in addition, Pharcomed Mexico has been granted exclusive 
Pharcomed products for Mexican territory. Pharcomed Mexico is based in Mexico City and had an 
initial share capital of 100,000 Mexican Pesos. Pharcomed Mexico received also cash and goods from 
its hareholders for a value of around US $140 thousand. Pharcomed Corp. is accounted under the equity 
method in the consolidated financial statements.
• Two Bee S.r.l. established on March 10, 2017 as a joint venture with Fufarma Albania (IMC Group) in 
order to realize a new plant for the pharmaceutical production of capsules and tablets in Tirana. Two Bee 
S.r.l. is accounted for under the equity method in the consolidated financial statements.

1.2 Consolidation area

The following table highlights the consolidation area as of June 30, 2018, unchanged from December 31, 2017:

June 30, 2018 December 31, 2017

Company Group share Direct control share Group share Direct control share

Parent company

BioDue S.p.A. 100.00% 100.00%

Subsidiaries

Labiotre S.r.l. 51.20% 51.20% 51.20% 51.20%

Joint ventures (accounted under the equity method)

Pharcomed Corp. 50.00% 50.00% 50.00% 50.00%
Two Bee S.r.l. 50.00% 50.00% 50.00% 50.00%
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The subsidiary LaBiotre S.r.l. is consolidated in the financial statements and in the statement of income starting 
in 2018, while it was consolidated only in the financial statement in 2017. This is due to the purchase of the 
majority ownership by the parent company at the end of 2017. LaBiotre was accounted for under the equity 
method during 2017, therefore, the statement of income as of the first half of 2017 does not include LaBiotre’s 
income values. 

2. Directors’ assessment on going concern requirements

On the basis of good performance and solid financial statements, the directors believe that the Group is able 
to continue its operating activities in the future. Accordingly, they have approved the interim condensed 
consolidated financial statements as of June 30, 2018 on the basis of going concern requirements.

3. Drafting criteria

3.1 Accounting principles adopted
The interim condensed consolidated financial statements as of June 30, 2018 had been drafted on the basis of 
accounting principle IAS34-Interim financial reporting.

The interim condensed consolidated financial statements do not contain all the information required for the 
annual consolidated financial statements.
As such, it is necessary to read both the interim condensed consolidated financial statements and tha 
consolidated financial statements as of December 31, 2017.

The accounting principles adopted in the preparation of the interim condensed consolidated financial statements 
as of June 30, 2018 are in compliance with the accounting principles adopted for the consolidated financial 
statements as of December 31, 2017, except for the adoption of new or revised accounting principles from the 
International Accounting Standards Board and the interpretations by the International Financial Reporting 
Interpretations Committee, as below exposed.
For the first time, the Group has applied IFRS 15 – Revenues from contracts with customers, IFRS 9 Financial 
instruments and IFRS 16 Leases.
The effects of these changes are disclosed below.

Income taxes of the interim period are determined using the tax rate that would be applicable to the total 
expected annual income, i.e. the best estimate of the expected annual tax rate average, applied to the profit 
before taxes for the period.
Payables and receivables for income taxes are recorded at the value that is expected to be paid/recovered to/
from tax authorities, by applying the tax regulations in effect or substantially approved at the closing date of the 
period. Such rates are estimated on an annual basis.

3.2 Statements

The consolidated statements of income use a structure based on a classification by nature. The Group believes 
this method, used also by the main competitors and compliant with international standards, is the best 
representation of the income results.
The consolidated statement of comprehensive income is presented in a separate statement, as revised IAS 1 
allows, with the distinction between other comprehensive income that will be or not be subsequently reclassified 
to profit or loss. The other comprehensive income items are presented as separate line items in the consolidated 
statement of changes in equity.
The interim condensed consolidated financial statements use a structure with a distinction between assets and 
sharereholders’ equity and liabilities, current and non current.
The statement of cash flows is structured on the indirect method, as allowed by IAS 7.
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3.3 Consolidation principles
The interim condensed consolidated financial statements as of June 30, 2018 include BioDue S.p.A., the Parent 
company, and LaBiotre S.r.l., subsidiary.
The Group’s interest in associates and joint ventures are acccounted for under the equity method.

Control is obtained when the Group is exposed to or entitled to variable yields, arising from its relationship with 
the entity partecipated and, at the same time, the Group can exercise its power over the entity to affect such 
returns.
Specifically, the Group controls an entity if and only if the Group itself has:
• the power over the investment entity (i.e. the Group holds the rights to direct the relevant assets of the 
investment entity);
• the exposure or the rights to variable yields arising from the relationship with the investment entity; 
• the ability to exercise its power over the investment entity to affect the amount of its yields. 
Generally, it is presumed the majority of voting rights involve control. In support of this presumption and when 
the Group holds less than the majority of voting rights (or similar rights), the Group considers all relevant facts 
and circumstances to determine whether it controls the investment entity, including:
• contractual agreements with other voting rights holders; 
• rights arising from contractual agreements;
• voting rights and potential voting rights of the Group.
The Group analyses whether or not it has the control over an entity when the facts and circumstances indicate 
that there have been changes in one or more of the three relevant elements relevant for the definition of control.
The consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains control over it and ceases when the Group loses 
control.
Assets, liabilities, revenues and costs of the subsidiary acquired or transferred during the period are included in 
the interim condensed consolidated financial statements from the date the Group obtains control until the date 
the Group is no longer exercising control over the entity.

Profit (loss) of the period and each of the other items of the consolidated statement of comprehensive income 
are attributed to parent shareholders and to minority interests, even if this implies the minority interests have a 
negative balance.
Where appropriate, adjustments are made to the subsidiaries’ financial statements, in order to ensure 
compliance with the Group’s accounting policies.
All assets and liabilities, equity, revenues, costs and intra-group financial flows relating to transaction between 
Group’s entities are completely eliminated during consolidation.

Changes in ownership in a subsidiary that do not involve loss of control are accounted for in equity.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it eliminates subsidiary’s assets (including goodwill), liabilities, 
minority interests and other items of equity, while any profit or loss is detected in the income statement.
The ownership in the subsidiary held by the parent company is measured at fair value.

3.4 Significant estimates and assumptions
In the interim condensed consolidated financial statements, the parent company’s management makes 
evaluations, estimates and assumptions in application of accounting standards that influence the amounts of 
assets, liabilities, costs and revenues accounted for.
Estimates and assumptions are are based on past experience and other factors considered reasonable. These 
have been adopted to estimate the value of assets and liabilities that are not found in other sources.

These estimates and assumptions are regularly reviewed. Any changes arising from the revision of the accounting 
estimates are recorded during the period in which the revision is carried out.
The main data being estimated includes:
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• application of the 5-step model provided by IFRS15 for evaluating and detecting revenues from customer 
contracts;
• returns for defects, including the assessment of possible costs related to possible compensatory expenses;
• provisions for raw material inventory, semi-finished and finished products;
• provisions for bad debt, linked to customers solvency;
• useful lives of plant, equipment, machinery, and intangible assets with a defined useful life and 
investment property;
• employee benefit plans, director’s benefit plan, ISC fund for sales agents, whose values are determined on 
the basis of actuarial estimates;
• deferred tax assets that are recognised to the extent that adequate tax gains are likely to exist, so that 
temporary differences or any tax loss may be used against them;
• determination of control and joint control of associates;
• representation of business combination operations;
• identification of contracts that include a lease;
• detection of a reduction in the value of a non-financial activity (and in particular in goodwill).

3.5 New Accounting standards and disclosures

The new accounting standards and disclosures adopted by Group are described below. The Group has early 
adopted IFRS 16.

IFRS 9: Financial Instruments
In July 2015 the IASB issued the final version of IFRS 9 “Financial instruments” which replaces IAS 39 
“Financial Instruments: Recognition and measurement” and all the previous versions of IFRS 9.
IFRS 9 brings together all three aspects of the project concerning the accounting for financial instruments: 
classification and measurement, impairment, and hedge accounting.
IFRS 9 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after  January 1, 2018 with early adoption permitted.
The application of the new standard did not affect the Group’s statement of financial position and shareholders’ 
equity. The Group has been adopting the new standard as from January 1, 2018 and it has not provided 
comparative information. In addition, there were no changes in the classification of the Group’s financial 
instruments.

a) Classification and measurement
The application of the classification and measurement requirements of IFRS 9 did not materially affect the 
Group’s financial statements and shareholders’ equity, as the Group does not hold debt, derivative and equity 
instruments.
Loans, as well as trade receivables, are held in order to collect contractual payments at maturity and generate 
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest. 
Having assessed the characteristics of the contractual cash flows of these instruments, the Group confirmed that 
they meet all the conditions for measurement at amortized cost in accordance with IFRS 9.

b) Impairment
IFRS 9 requires the Group to recognize all expected credit losses on its debt securities, loans, and trade 
receivables, either on an annual basis or based on their remaining life.
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The Group applies the simplified approach and recognizes expected losses on all trade receivables based on 
their remaining life. At each reporting date the Group evaluate the specific condition of its customer portfolio by 
analyzing the guarantees granted to the Group, existing claims and credit collection procedures used.
The Group has also analyzed the historical default rate of its customer portfolio and used these historical 
information to validate the impairment rate determined by the Group policy.
Therefore, the requirements of IFRS 9 do not materially impact the shareholders’ equity of the Group.

c) Hedge accounting 
The Group does not hold derivative instruments.

IFRS 15: Revenues from contracts with customers
IFRS 15 was issued in May 2014. It applies to all revenues from contracts with customers, unless such contracts 
fall within the scope of other accounting standards. IFRS 15 requires an entity to recognize revenues to depict the 
transfer of promised goods or services to the customer in an amount that reflects the consideration to which the 
company expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services.
IFRS 15 replaces all existing revenue requirements in IFRS (IAS 18, IAS 11, IFRIC 13, IFRIC 15, IFRIC 18, and 
SIC 31).
The standard is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018, with a full or modified 
retrospective application.the Group adopted the new standard effective 1 January 2018, electing to apply the 
modified retrospective approach to all contracts at the date of initial application for the transition.
The application of the standard did not affect the shareholders’ equity of the Group.

In applying IFRS 15, the Group considered the following:

(a) Sale of goods
The application of IFRS 15 to contracts with customers in which the sale of goods represents the only obligation 
did not have a significant impact on the Group. The Group recognizes revenue when control over the asset has 
been transferred to the customer, generally upon delivery as in the case of previously applicable standards.

(b) Presentation and disclosure requirements
The provisions in IFRS 15 concerning presentation and disclosure requirements, which are fundamentally new, 
are more detailed compared to previously applied standards. Considering that the analysis of the contracts and 
revenue streams showed that revenue from the sale of products is mainly recognized at a specific point in time, 
and based on the outcomes of the assessments performed (which resulted in no significant judgments), there 
were no significant implementation challenges concerning the inclusion of additional disclosures.
The disclosure required by the standard for the interim condensed consolidated financial statements is described 
in note 6.1.

IFRS 2 Classification and Measurement of Share-based Payment Transactions — Amendments to 
IFRS 2
The IASB issued amendments to IFRS 2 - Share-based Payment, which addresses three main areas: the effects of 
vesting conditions on the measurement of a cash-settled share-based payment transaction, the classification of a 
share-based payment transaction with net settlement features for withholding tax obligations and the accounting 
where a modification to the terms and conditions of a share-based payment transaction changes its classification 
from cash-settled to equity-settled.
On adoption, entities are required to apply the amendments without restating prior periods, but retrospective 
application is permitted if elected for all three amendments and other criteria are met. The amendments are 
effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018. The application of the standard did not affect 
the Group’s interim condensed consolidated financial statements.
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Amendments to IAS 40: Transfers of investment Property
The amendments clarify when an entity should transfer property, including property under construction or 
development into, or out of investment property. The amendment states that a change in use occurs when the 
property meets, or ceases to meet, the definition of investment property and there is evidence of the change in 
use. A mere change in management’s intentions for the use of a property does not provide evidence of a change 
in use. An entity should reassess the classification of property held at that date and, if applicable, reclassify 
property to reflect the conditions that exist at that date. Retrospective application in accordance with IAS 8 is 
only permitted if that is possible without the use of hindsight. The amendments are effective for annual periods 
beginning on or after January 1, 2018. The Group has been adopting the amendments starting from their 
effective date.

IFRIC Interpretation 22: Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance Consideration
The interpretation clarifies that in determining the spot exchange rate to use on initial recognition of the related 
asset, expense or income (or part of it) on the derecognition of a non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability 
relating to advance consideration, the transaction date is the date on which an entity initially recognizes the non-
monetary asset or non-monetary liability arising from the advance consideration. If there are multiple payments 
or receipts in advance, then the entity must determine transaction date for each payment or receipt of advance 
consideration. Entities may apply the amendments on a fully retrospective basis. Alternatively, an entity may 
apply the interpretation prospectively to all assets, expenses and income in its scope that are initially recognized 
on or after:
• the beginning of the reporting period in which the entity first applies the interpretation,  or
• the beginning of a prior reporting period presented as comparative information in the financial 
statements of the reporting period in which the entity first applies the interpretation.
The Group has been applying this interpretation as from January 1, 2018 and, since its current accounting 
policy is aligned with the interpretation, there was no impact on its interim condensed consolidated financial 
statements.

Annual improvements cycle 2014-2016
These improvements include:
- IFRS 1 First-time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards – Deletion of 
short-term exemptions. 
The IASB deleted the short-term exemptions in paragraphs E3-E7 of IFRS1, because they have now served their 
intended purpose. The amendment is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018.
- IAS 28 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures – Clarification that measuring 
investees at fair value through profit or loss is an investment-by-investment choice. 
The amendments clarify that: 
• An entity that is a venture capital organization, or other qualifying entity, may elect upon initial 
recognition and on an investment-by-investment basis to measure its investments in associates or joint ventures 
at fair value through profit or loss.
• If an entity does not qualify as an investment entity and has an interest in an associate or joint venture 
that is an investment entity, the entity may, when applying the equity method, elect to retain the fair value 
measurement applied by that investment entity (be it an associate or joint venture) to the investment entity 
associate’s or joint venture’s interests in subsidiaries. This election is made separately for each associate or joint 
venture qualifying as an investment entity at the later of the date on which: (a) the investment entity associate or 
joint venture is initially recognized; (b) the associate or joint venture becomes an investment entity; and (c) the 
investment entity associate or joint venture first becomes a parent company.
The amendment is effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018.

IFRS 16 Leases
IFRS 16 was published in January 2016 and will replace IAS 17 Leasing, IFRIC 4, SIC-15, and SIC-27. IFRS 
16 establishes principles for the recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure of leases (contracts 
conveying the right to use an asset) and requires lessees to account for all leases under a single on-balance sheet 
model in a similar way to finance leases under IAS 17.
L’IFRS 16 requires more exstensive disclosure to the lessees and lessors compared to IAS 17.
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The standard includes two recognition exemptions for lessees – leases of “low-value” assets (e.g. personal 
computer, photocopiers, …), and short-term leases (i.e., leases with a lease term of 12 months or less). At the 
commencement date of a lease, a lessee will recognize a liability to make non-variable lease payments (i.e., the 
lease liability) and an asset representing the right to use the underlying asset during the lease term (i.e., the 
right-of-use asset). 

Lessees will be required to separately recognize the interest expense on the lease liability and the depreciation 
expense on the right-of-use asset. 

Lessees will also be required to remeasure the lease liability upon the occurrence of certain events (e.g., a 
change in the lease term, a change in future lease payments resulting from a change in an index or rate used to 
determine those payments). 

The lessee will generally recognize the amount of the remeasurement of the lease liability as an adjustment to the 
right-of-use asset.

IFRS 16 will be effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019. early adoption is permitted for 
entities that also apply IFRS 15 – Revenues from contracts with Customers.

The Group has early adopted IFRS 16 starting from January 1, 2018.  using the “cumulative catch-up approach” 
at the date of fist application (January 1, 2018) of new standard. evaluating the liability for leasing contracts 
equal to the future cash flows deriving from existing contracts, discounted for an incremental interest rate 
calculated on that date on the basis of the residual duration of the contracts.

The main impacts on the Group’s interim condensed consolidated financial statements are the following:

• financial position: increase in non-current assets due to the recognition of the “right-of-use asset” and a 
corresponding increase in financial liabilities; 

• income statement: different nature, qualification and classification of expenses (depreciation of the 
“right-of-use asset” and “interest expense” relative to the “Costs for the use of third-party assets”, as per IAS 17), 
resulting in a positive impact on operating profit; 

• alternative performance measures: the mentioned change in the nature, qualification, and classification 
of expenses will affect EBITDA, Net invested capital, Net Financial Indebtedness, and the other measures of the 
Group’s financial performance and financial position.
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The following table shows the effects of IFRS 16 first time adoption on the financial values as of January 1, 2018 
and as of June 30, 2018:

(in thousands of Euro)  

 Consolidated
Property, plant and equipment  
IFRS 16 first time adoption for leases as of January 1, 2018 240 
IFRS 16 adoption for new leases in the period 2,538 
Amortization for the period (40) 
Total as of June 30, 2018 2,738 

Non current and current financial liabilities  
IFRS 16 first time adoption for leases as of January 1, 2018 240 
IFRS 16 adoption for new leases in the period 2,538 

Reimbursement capital value for the peiod (38) 

Total as of June 30, 2018 2,740 

Equity  
Effects on equity, without taxation (2) 
Taxation 1 
Total as of June 30, 2018 (1) 

IFRS 16 first time adoption effects are due to: (i) the “rent to buy” (i.e. lease) contract the subsidiary LaBiotre 
signed on March 26, 2018 to buy the plant in Guttuso Street n. 6-8-10, (ii) the “rent to buy” (i.e. lease) contract 
the parent company signed on March 25, 2016 to buy the offices in Da Vinci street n. 21 and (iii) some machines. 

3.6 Standards adopted but not yet in force
The following are the standards and interpretations which, at the date of preparation of the Group’s interim 
condensed consolidated financial statements, had already been issued but were not yet in force. 
The Group intends to adopt these standards when they enter into force.

Amendments toIAS 28: Long- Term interest in Associates and Joint Venture
The amendments clarify how entities are required to use IFRS 9 to represent long-term interests in an associate 
or joint venture, for which the equity method is not applied. The amendments will apply for annual periods 
beginning on or after January 1, 2019 with prospective adoption. The Group intends to adopt these standards 
when they enter into effect.

Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28: Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its 
Associate or Joint Venture
The amendments address the conflict between IFRS 10 and IAS 28 in relation to loss of control of a subsidiary 
that is sold or contributed to an associate or joint venture. The amendments clarify that any gain or loss on the 
sale or contribution of assets constituting a business, as defined in IFRS 3, between an investor and one of its 
associates or joint ventures must be recognised in full. Any gain or loss on the sale or contribution of assets that 
do not constitute a business is recognised only to the extent of the portion held by third party investors in the 
associate or joint venture. The IASB indefinitely deferred the date of application of these amendments, but if an 
entity decides to apply them early, it should do so prospectively. The Group notes that at the moment there are 
no such applicable cases.
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IFRIC Interpretation 23: Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatment
The Interpretation defines the accounting treatment of income taxes when the tax treatment involves 
uncertainties that have an effect on the application of IAS 12 and does not apply to taxes or duties that do not 
fall within the scope of IAS 12, nor does it specifically include requirements relating to interest or penalties 
attributable to uncertain tax treatments.
The interpretation specifically addresses the following points:
- if an entity considers uncertain tax treatments separately;
- the entity’s assumptions about tax authorities reviewing tax treatment;
- how an entity determines taxable profit (or tax loss), tax base, unused tax losses, unused tax credits and 
tax rates;
- how an entity deals with changes in facts and circumstances. 
An entity shall determine whether it considers any uncertain tax treatment separately or together with other (one 
or more) uncertain tax treatment(s). The approach that best predicts the resolution of the uncertainty should 
be followed. The Interpretation is effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2019, but some 
transition provisions are available. The Group will apply the interpretation on the date it becomes effective. As 
the accounting policy of the Group is in line with Interpretation, the Group does not expect an impact on the 
interim condensed consolidated financial statements.

Amendaments to IFRS 9: Prepayment Features with Negative Compensation
The amendment clarifies that the estimate of the payment for the closure of a loan by the lender does not depend 
on the sign of payment, but it is determined in the same way, whether positive or negative. The amendments will 
apply for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2019 with prospective adoption. The Group will apply 
the interpretation on the date it goes into effect 

Annual Improvements 2015-2017
These improvements  mainly concern:
- IFRS 3 – Business Combinations, clarifying how a company must remeasure the equity investment 
previously held in a joint operation, once it has obtained control of the business;
- IFRS 11 – Joint Arrangements, whereby a company does not revalue its interest previously held in a joint 
operation when it obtains joint control of the business;
- IAS 12 – Income Taxes, which clarifies that the impact of taxes on income from dividends (i.e. the 
distribution of profits) should be recognised to profit or loss, irrespective of how the tax arises; and
- IAS 23 – Borrowing Costs, which clarifies that a company treats as part of a general debt any debt 
originally realized for the development of an asset when the asset is ready for its intended use or for sale. 

The interpretation is effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018, adoption in advance is 
permitted. The Group intends to adopt these standards when they enter into effect.

3.7 Seasonality

The market in which the Group operates does not have significal seasonal or cyclical variations that would affect 
flows of sales and operating costs during the different months of the year.



Page 25Interim condensed consolidated financial statements as of June 30, 2018

4. Operating segments

IFRS 8 “operating segments” requires the Group to report financial and descriptive information on its reporting 
segments.
An operating segment is a component of an entity (i) that engages in business activities from which it may earn 
revenues and incur expenses, (ii) whose operating results are reviewed regularly by the chief’s operating decision 
maker to make decisions about resources to be allocated to the segment and assess its performance, and (iii) for 
which discrete financial information is available.
IFRS 8 states that operating segments often present similar results in the long term if they have similar 
characteristics. From two operating segments with similar economic characteristics there would be analogues 
average gross margins in the long term. So they could be aggregated in only one operating segment if they have 
similar characteristics in each of the following respects:
a) the nature of the products and services;
b) the nature of the production processes;
c) the type of class of customer for their products and services;
d) the methods used to distribute their products or provide their services;
e) if applicable, the nature of the regulatory environment.

The parent company develops, manufactures and sells medical devices, cosmetics, liquid and solid food 
supplements for both domestic and international pharmaceutical companies (Industrial division) in addition to 
its own brands.

The subsidiary LaBiotre extracts active plant ingredients with proprietary technology and know-how exclusively 
for the final customer. LaBiotre provides raw materials to BioDue for Selerbe products and natural vegetable 
extracts to be used in the production cycle.

The Group has not yet defined distinct operating segments for its business activity, in part due to the above 
mentioned elements. The Group uses revenues as the only indicator to assess the performance of its activities.
The major revenue details are described in the notes, paragraph 6.1.
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5. Explanatory notes to interim condensed consolidated 

financial statements

5.1 Property, plant and equipment

Property plant and equipment amounted to 17,884 thousand Euro as of June 30, 2018 (13,516 thousand Euro as 
of December 31, 2017). The following table shows their breakdown:

(in thousands of Euro)      

Property, plant and equipment Property Plants and 
machinery

Industrial 
and 

commercial 
equipment

Other

Current 
tangible 

assets and 
advances

Total 
property, 
plant and 

equipment

Net value as of December 31, 2016 7,301 3,449 200 476 2,042 13,468 

Historic cost December 31, 2016 10,578 7,066 535 1,512 2,042 21,733 

Additions 85 148 81 166 1,138 1,618

Disposals (1,203)  (32) (60) (63) (1,358)

Reclassifications 1,746 147 1  (1,893) 1

As of June 30, 2017 11,206 7,361 585 1,618 1,224 21,994

Accumulated amortization as of 
December 31, 2016 (3,277) (3,617) (335) (1,036)  (8,265)

Additions (204) (327) (38) (75)  (644)

Disposals 386  22 23 431

Accumulated amortization June 30, 2017 (3,095) (3,944) (351) (1,088) (8,478)

Net value as of June 30, 2017 8,111 3,417 234 530 1,224 13,516

Historic cost as of December 31, 2017 11,632 9,332 715 1,624 781 24,084 

First time adoption of IFRS 16 on operating 
leases 240 - - - - 240

Additions 14 370 129 87 710 1,310 

Additions for leasing 2,483 320    2,803 

Disposals  (113)    (113) 

Reclassifications 443 396   (839) 

Historical cost as of June 30, 2018 14,812 10,305 844 1,711 652 28,324 

Accumulated amortization as of 
December 31, 2017 (3,329) (4,755) (433) (1,123) (9,640) 

Additions (282) (403) (49) (76) (810) 

Disposals  10   10 

Accumulated amortization as of June 30, 
2018 (3,611) (5,148) (482) (1,199) (10,440) 

Net value as of June 30, 2018 11,201 5,157 362 512 652 17,884 

Additions realized during the period amounted to 4,113 thousand Euro.Of these, 2,803 thousand Euro were 
attributed to the described IFRS16 first time adoption and, while the remaining 1,310 thousand Euro was from 
nvestments made during the period. These investments included:
• Plants and machinery, 370 thousand Euro;
• Equipment, 129 thousand Euro;
• Current tangible assets and advances, 710 thousand Euro, mainly due to LaBiotre’s planned investments 
in soft-gel production.

Management believes that as of June 30, 2018 there are no indicators of impairment from internal sources 
(corporate strategies), nor from external sources (legal, economic and technological context the Group operates 
in). 
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5.1.1 Leasing

In accordance with paragraphs 51-60 of IFRS 16 the following disclosures assess the effects of the leases on the 
financial position, the income result and the Group’s cash flows.

(in thousands of Euro)      

Property Plants and 
machinery

Industrial 
and 

commercial 
equipment

Other

Current 
tangible 

assets and 
advances

Total 
property, 
plant and 

equipment

Book value as of January 1, 2017 739 748 - - - 1,487

Additions 70 70

Disposals (739) (739)

Business Combinations 49 49

Amortization (168) (168)

Book value as of December 31, 2017 - 699 - - - 699

Book value as of January 1, 2018 - 699 699

First time adoption of IFRS 16 on operating 
leases 240 - - - - 240

Additions 2,483 320 2,803

Amortization (38) (103) (141)

Book value as of June 30, 2018 2,685 916 3,601

(in thousands of Euro)   

 June 30, 2018 June 30, 2017
Interest charges on leasing liabilities for the period 13 11
Cash flows for leasing for the period 186 141

Other operating costs include costs related to short-term leasing or low value leasing in the amount of 100 thou-
sand Euro, in accordance with paragraph 6 - IFRS16.

The Group did not subscribe to any sub-lease contracts.
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5.2 Goodwill and intangible assets

Intangible assets amounted to 3,720 thousand Euro as of June 30, 2018 (3.865 thousand Euro as of December 
31, 2017). The following table shows their breakdown:

(in thousands of Euro)      

Goodwill and intangible assets Goodwill

Concessions, 
licences, 

patents and 
other

Industrial 
patents 

and use of 
intellectual 

property 
rights

Intangible 
assets with 

a finite 
useful life in 

progress

Current 
intangoble 
assets and 

advances

Total 
goodwill 

and 
intangible 

assets

Net value as of December 31, 2016  23 109   132 

Historical cost as of December 31, 
2016  280 392   672 

Additions - 21 - 21

Disposals - - - -

Reclassifications - - - -

Historical cost as of June 30, 2017 280 413 - 693

Accumulated amortization as of 
December 31, 2016 (258) (283) - (541)

Additions (1) (24) - (25)

Disposals - - - -

Accumulated amortization as of June 
30, 2017 (259) (307) - (566)

Net value as of June 30, 2017 21 106 - 127

Historical cost as of December 31, 
2017 1,381 283 469 2,341   4,474 

Additions   29   29 

Disposals        

Reclassifications        

Historical cost as of June 30, 2018 1,381 283 498 2,341  4,503 

Accumulated amortization as of 
December 31, 2017  (260) (349)    (609) 

Additions  (1) (27) (146)  (174) 

Disposals       

Accumulated amortization as of June 
30, 2018  (261) (376) (146)  (783) 

Net value as of December 31, 2017 1,381 22 122 2,195  3,720 

Management believes that as of June 30, 2018 there are no indicators of impairment from internal sources 
(corporate strategies), nor from external sources (legal, economic and technological context the Group operates 
in).
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5.3 Investment property

Investment property amounted to 92 thousand Euro as of June 30, 2018, consistinf of a leased industrial 
property. The active rent is assessed as an operating lease according to IFRS16.
The following table shows the variations in investment property as of June 30, 2018.

(in thousands of Euro)     

Investment property December 31, 
2017 Additions Disposals Amortization June 30, 2018

Land 68    68 
Property 30   6 24 
Total 98   6 92

Management believes that as of June 30, 2018 there are no indicators of impairment from internal sources 
(corporate strategies), nor from external sources (legal, economic and technological context the Group operates 
in).

5.4 Investments in associates and joint ventures

Investments in associates and joint ventures totaled 104 thousand Euro. The following table shows their 
breakdown:

(in thousands of Euro)     

Investments in associates and a joint 
ventures

Value as of 
June 30,

2018

Value as of 
December 31,

2017

% investment 
as of June 30, 

2018

% investment 
as of December 

31, 2017

Investments in joint ventures accounted for 
under the equity method     

Pharcomed Corp. 50 49 50% 50%
Two Bee S.r.l. 47 48 50% 50%
Investments in other companies     
DAFNE consortium 7 7 n.s. n.s.
Total investments in associates and joint 
ventures 104 104   

In the first half of 2018 Pharcomed Corp. totaled:
-revenues from contracts with customers, 0.9 million USD;
-EBITDA, 0.2 million USD;
-net profit, 0.1 million USD.

Two Bee S.r.l., a holding of a pharmaceutical production company in Albania, was founded on June 9, 2017 with 
a share capital pro-quota purchased for 50 thousand Euro. The company is not yet fully operational.
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5.5 Other non-current assets

Other non-current assets amounted to 38 thousand Euro as of June 30, 2018 (51 thousand Euro as of December 
31, 2017). They mainly consist of deposits and prepaid expenses. 

(in thousands of Euro)     

Other non-current assets June 30, 
2018

December 
31, 2017 Change %

Change 

IRES tax credit 3 30 (27) -89.3%
Deposits 10 17 (7) -42.8%

Other receivables 2 2 0 14.1%

Prepayments 23 2 21 >100%
Total other non-current assets 38 51 (13) -25.6%

5.6 Deferred tax assets

The following table shows deferred tax assets. They amounted to 171 thousand Euro as of December 31, 2017 and 
162 thousand Euro as of June 30, 2018.

(in thousands of Euro)     

Deferred tax assets December 
31, 2017 Accruals Uses June 30, 

2018 

Deferred tax assets 171 14  23 162

Deferred tax credits are recognised when it is probable that future taxable income will be sufficient for temporary 
tax differences to be used against them.
The Group estimates there will be sufficient future taxable income to use the credits.
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5.7 Inventories

Inventories amounted to 6,842 thousand Euro as of June 30, 2018 (5,901 thousand Euro as of December 31, 
2017). The following table shows their breakdown: 

(in thousands of Euro)     

Inventories June 30, 
2018

December 
31, 2017 Change %

Change 

     
Gross value of raw materials, accessories and 
consumables 3,540 3,325 215 6.5%

Provisions for obsolete raw materials (1) (11) 10 -90.9%
Total raw materials, accessories and 
consumables 3,539 3,314 225 6.8%

     
Semi-finished products 1,184 460 724 >100%
Provisions for obsolete intermediate goods  (1) 1 -100%
Total semi-finished products 1,184 459 725 >100%
     
Finished products 2,142 2,233 (91) -4.1%
Provisions for finished products (23) (105) 82 -78.1%
Total finished products 2,119 2,128 (9) -0.4%
     
Total inventories 6,842 5,901 941 15.9%

Inventories amounted to 5,901 thousand Euro as of December 31, 2017and to 6,842 thousand Euro as of June 
30, 2018, with a change of 941 thousand Euro (+16%), mainly formed by 724 thousand Euro increase in semi-
finished products. This is due to greater turnover volumes and to the production process that was fully operating 
as of June 30, 2018. 

The following table shows additions to and uses of inventory provisions.

(in thousands of Euro)     

Provisions for inventories December 31, 
2017 Accruals Uses June 30, 

2018 

Provisions for inventories 117 25 117 25

Accruals to provisions for inventories amounted to 25 thousand Euro and classified as Cost of goods sold.
Provisions for inventories are mainly determined by the expirationf of a product, when the expiration date no 
longer allows the product to enter into the sales cycle.
In addition, at the end of the period, the Group monitors any obsolete and slow-moving material for provision 
considerations.
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5.8 Trade receivables

Trade receivables amounted to 12,785 thousand Euro as of June 30, 2018 (11,299 thousand Euro as of December 
31, 2017). The following table shows their breakdown:

(in thousands of Euro)     

Trade receivables June 30, 
2018

December 
31, 2017 Change %

Change 

Trade receivables (Italy) 11,480 10,446 1,034 9.9%
Trade receivables (UE) 598 524 74 14.1%
Trade receivables (Extra-UE) 964 528 436 82.6%
Credit notes to be issued (2) (6) 4 -66.7%
Provisions for bad debt (255) (193) (62) 32.1%
Total trade receivables 12,785 11,299 1,486 13.2%

The increase in trade receivables is related to greater revenue volumes and to longer payment terms granted to 
JV Pharcomed. 

The provision for bad debt is determined by: uncertain chargeability trade receivables, specific conditions 
affecting Group customers, any guarantees provided in favour of the Group, appropriate evaluation of the 
disputes and the possibility of recovering expired credits.
Provisions for bad debt are deemed appropriate by directors to cope with foreseeable future credit losses.
Changes in provisions for bad debt were as follows:

(in thousands of Euro)     

Provisions for bad debt December 
31, 2017 Accruals Uses June 30, 

2018 

Provisions for bad debt 193 64 2 255 

Exchange differences as of June 30, 2018 have been recorded in the interim condensed consolidated financial 
statements.
Changes in exchange rates between June 30, 2018 and the date of financial statement editing are not significant.

As of June 30, 2018 there are no trade receivables with maturity exceeding 5 years.
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5.9 Tax receivables

Tax receivables amounted to 570 thousand Euro as of June 30, 2018 (779 thousand Euro as of December 31, 
2017). The following table shows their breakdown:

(in thousands of Euro)     

Tax receivables June 30, 
2018

December 
31, 2017 Change %

Change 

VAT 570 639 (69) -10.6%
Ires - 140 (140) -100%
Total tax receivables 570 779 (209) -26.7%

5.10 Other current assets

Other current assets amounted to 184 thousand Euro as of June 30, 2018 (55 thousand Euro as of December 31, 
2017). The following table shows their breakdown: 

(in thousands of Euro)     

Other current assets June 30, 
2018

December 
31, 2017 Change %

Change 

Advances 2 9 (7) -77.8%
Other receivables 32 2 30 >100%
Prepayments 150 44 106 >100%
Total other current assets 184 55 129 >100%

As of June 30, 2018 there are no othe current assets with maturity exceeding 5 years.

5.11 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents amounted to 1,142 thousand Euro as of June 30, 2018 (1,035 thousand Euro as of 
December 31, 2017).
Cash and cash equivalents are freely available. The Group does not foresee significant costs for making them 
available.
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5.12 Shareholders’ equity

As shown in the consolidated of changes in equity, changes as of June 30, 2018 are given by:
- Accumulated net profit as of December 31, 2017, in the amount of 4,126 thousand Euro;
- Net profit as of June 30, 2018, for 1,833 thousand Euro.
Group shareholders’ equity amounts to 19,528 thousand Euro as of June 30, 2018.

5.12.1 Shareholders’ equity management

For the purpose of managing the Group shareholders’ equity, this includes: share capital, reserves attributable to 
parent company shareholders, and shareholders’ equity non-controlling interests. 
The main purpose of managing shareholders’ equity is to maximize shareholders’ value.
The Group controls its assets using a gearing ratio, given by the ratio between net financial indebtedness and 
consolidated shareholders’ equity. 
The Group policy is to keep this ratio within levels that are considered acceptable.

(in thousands of Euro)   

June 30, 2018 December 
31, 2017

 Cash and cash equivalents (1,143) (1,035)
 Current financial debt 3,448 2,866
 Current financial indebtedness 2,305 1,831
 Non current financial indebtedness 7,467 4,313
D Net financial indebtedness 9,772 6,144
    
E Group shareholders’ equity 21,634 20,527
    
D/E Leverage 0.45    0.30   

The Group does not have any covenant on the interest-bearing loans and borrowings.

5.13 Other comprehensive income/losses

The impact of TFR and TFM actuarial changes in included in other comprehensive income /loss in accordance 
with IAS19. The following table shows their breakdown: 

(in thousands of Euro)   

Employee benefit plans and Directors benefit plans 
measurement (IAS 19): June 30, 2018 June 30, 2017

Actuarial income / (losses) (49) 51
Tax effect 12 (12)
Other comprehensive income / (loss) for the period (37) 39



Page 35Interim condensed consolidated financial statements as of June 30, 2018

5.14 Non current interest-bearing loans and borrowings

Non-current interest-bearing loans and borrowings amounted to 7,467 thousand Euro as of June 30, 2018 (4,312 
thousand Euro as of December 31, 2017). 
The increase in total non current interest-bearing loans and borrowings is mainly related to the leases for 
investments in the period, as described in note 5.1.

The following table shows their breakdown: 

(in thousands of Euro)     

Non-current interest-bearing loans and 
borrowings

June 30, 
2018

December 
31, 2017 Change %

Change 

Non current interest-bearing loans and borrowings 4,736 4,086 650 15.9%

Non current lease liabilities 2,731 226 2,505 >100%

Total non-current interest-bearing loans and 
borrowings 7,467 4,312 3,155 73.2%

The Group does not have any covenant associated with the interest-bearing loans and borrowings.

5.15 Provisions for risks and charges

Provisions for risks and charges amounted to 636 thousand Euro as of June 30, 2018 (605 thousand Euro as of 
December 31, 2017). The following table shows their breakdown: 

(in thousands of Euro)     

Provisions for risks and charges June 30, 
2018

December 
31, 2017 Change %

Change 

Provisions for sales agents indemnity 581 550 31 5.6%

Provisions for other risks 55 55 0 0.6%

Total provisions for risks and charges 636 605 31 5.1%

Provisions for other risks are related to probable non-conformity on manufactured products.

There are no significant pending litigations and disputes of legal, fiscal or contractual origin.
The Group, supported by the opinion of its lawyers, believes that no current litigation or dispute may result in a 
negative outcome affecting the Group’s net position.
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5.16 Employees’ benefit liabilities

Employees’ benefit liabilities amounted to 394 thousand Euro as of June 30, 2018 (330 thousand Euro as of 
December 31, 2017). The following table shows their breakdown:

(in thousands of Euro)    

Employees’ 
benefit plan 

liabilities

Directors’ 
benefit plan 

liabilities

Total 
employees’ 

benefit plan 
liabilities

Value as of December 31, 2017 269 61 330
Benefits paid (9) - (9)

Service cost - 17 17

Interest cost 2 5 7

 Actuarial Losses/(Income) due to experience 3 64 67
 Actuarial Losses/(Income) due to changes in demographic 
assumptions - - -

 Actuarial Losses/(Income) due to changes in financial 
assumptions (1) (17) (18)

Actuarial Losses / (Income) 2 47 49

Value as of June 30, 2018 264 130 394

Employees’ benefit liabilities and directors’ benefit plan liabilities are accounted for in accordance with IAS19 
for benefit plans and include the estimated debt to be paid to each employee at the end of the job contract. This 
debt is discounted on the basis of estimated employee termination dates. These are calculated using actuarial 
methods.



Page 37Interim condensed consolidated financial statements as of June 30, 2018

5.17 Deferred tax liabilities

Deferred tax liabilities amounted to 750 thousand Euro as of June 30, 2018 (809 thousand Euro as of December 
31, 2017).

(in thousands of Euro)     

Deferred tax liabilities December 
31, 2017 Accruals Uses June 30, 

2018 

Deferred tax liabilities 809 2 61 750

5.18 Trade payables

Trade payables amounted to 7,372 thousand Euro as of June 30, 2018 (7,131 thousand Euro as of December 31, 
2017). The following table shows their breakdown:

(in thousands of Euro)     

Trade payables June 30, 
2018

December 
31, 2017 Change %

Change 

Trade payables Italy 6,674 6,466 208 3.2%

Trade payables UE 226 94 132 >100%

Trade payables Extra UE 168 7 161 >100%

Invoices to be issued 305 579 (274) -47.3%

Credit notes to be issued (1) (15) 14 -93.3%

Total trade payables 7,372 7,131 241 3.4%

5.19 Current interest-bearing loans and borrowings

Current interest-bearing loans and receivables amounted to 3,448 thousand Euro as of June 30, 2018 (2,866 
thousand Euro as of December 31, 2017). The amount of 2,866 in 2017 included current interest-bearing loans 
and borrowings for 2,619 thousand Euro and current financial liabilities for 247 thousand Euro. As of June 30, 
2018 there are no current financial liabilities.

(in thousands of Euro)     

Current interest-bearing loans and 
borrowings, and other  current financial 
liabilities

June 30, 
2018

December 
31, 2017 Change %

Change 

Current bank liabilities 1,563 1,381 182 13.2%

Current bank interest-bearing loans and borrowings 1,451 1,080 371 34.4%

Current leasing liabilities 434 158 276 >100%

Current interest-bearing loans and 
borrowings 3,448 2,619 829 31.7%

Current liabilities to a shareholder for the purchase 
of own shares  247 (247) -100%

Other current financial liabilities  247 (247) -100%
Total current interest-bearing loans and 
borrowings, and other current financial 
liabilities

3,448 2,866 582 20.3%

The Group does not have any covenant associated with the interest-bearing loans and receivables.
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5.20 Tax payables

Tax payables amounted to 844 thousand Euro as of June 30, 2018 (318 thousand Euro as of December 31, 2017). 
The following table shows their breakdown:

(in thousands of Euro)     

Tax payables June 30, 
2018

December 
31, 2017 Change %

Change 

Ires 513 91 422 >100%

Irap 159 23 136 >100%

VAT - 9 (9) -100%

Professionists withholding tax 45 42 3 7.1%

Employee withholding tax 92 153 (61) -39.9%

Other withholding taxes 35 - 35  

Total tax payables 844 318 526 >100%

5.21 Other current liabilities

Other current liabilities amounted to 979 thousand Euro as of June 30, 2018 (904 thousand Euro as of 
December 31, 2017). The following table shows their breakdown:

(in thousands of Euro)     

Other current liabilities June 30, 
2018

December 
31, 2017 Change %

Change 

Social security liabilities 290 361 (71) -19.7%

Employee liabilities 612 501 111 22.2%

Other liabilities 77 42 35 83.3%

Total other current liabilities 979 904 75 8.3%
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6. Explanatory notes to consolidated statement of income

6.1 Revenues from contracts with customers
Revenues from contracts with customers amounted to 20,886 thousand Euroas of June 30, 2018 (18,464 
thousand Euro as of June 30, 2017), with a growth of 2,468 thousand Euro, 13.1% increase.
The following table shows their breakdown:

(in thousands of Euro)      

Revenues from contracts with 
customers

June 30, 
2018 % June 30, 

2017 % Change %
Change 

Industrial 10,781 51.6%  10,468 56.7% 313 3.0%

Pharcos  3,974 19.0%  3,914 21.2% 60 1.5%
Selerbe  3,175 152%  2,739 14.8% 436 15.9%
BiOfta  1,441 6.9%  1,293 7.0% 148 11.4%
Other  107 0.5%  50 0.3% 57 >100%
Total revenues from contracts 
with customers of BioDue  19,478 93.3%  18,464 100.0%  1,014 5.5%

Revenues from contracts with customers 
of LaBiotre (third parties only)  1,408 6.7%  1,408  

Total consolidated revenues from 
contracts with customers 20,886 100.0%  18,464 100.0%  2,422 13.1%

In the first half of 2018, consolidated revenues from contracts with customers totaled 20.9 million Euro, growing 
by 2.4 million Euro (with an increase of +13.1% compared to the first half of 2017).

In particular:
• Industrial revenues amount to 10.8 million Euro, (+3.0%), following the growth path recorded in the first 

quarter of 2018;
• Pharcos revenues amount to 4 million Euro;
• Selerbe revenues amount to 3.2 million Euro (+15.9%); the growth is mainly due to the sales of private-label 

products to pharmacists and herbalists;
• BiOfta revenues amount to 1.4 million Euro, (+11.4%), confirming the work undertaken by the commercial 

network on ophthalmologists.

Revenues breakdown by category and brand confirms the own brands Pharcos, Selerbe and Biofta relevant 
growth rates (+ 7.5% compared to 2017). 

Finally, it is important the contribution made by the subsidiary LaBiotre (consolidated since December 31, 2017, 
and with no effects in the consolidated income statement of the prior period). LaBiotre has achieved 1.4 million 
Euro revenues with third parties (+20% compared to the results of the first half of 2017 of the subsidiaries). 

Consolidated revenues breakdown by geography shows a +32.9% growth in the foreign component. This is 
greater than the +10.4% growth recorded by the domestic revenues, in line with the strategy to strengthen the 
internationalization process and the opening of new markets.  

The following table shows the distinction between domestic and foreign revenues.

The revenues above reported are accounted using the methodology “point in time”.
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The following table shows the distinction between domestic and foreign revenues. 

(in thousands of Euro)      

Revenues from contracts with 
customers

June 30, 
2018 % June 30, 

2017 % Change %
Change 

Domestic 17,927 85.8% 16,238 87.9% 1,689 10.4%
Rest of the World 2,959 14.2% 2,226 12.1% 733 32.9%
Total consolidated revenues from 
contracts with customers  20,886 100.0%  18,464 100.0% 2,422 13.1%
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6.2 Other revenues 

Other revenues amounted to 58 thousand Euro as of June 30, 2018 (127 thousand Euro as of June 30, 2017). The 
following table shows the breakdown:

(in thousands of Euro)     

Other revenues June 30, 
2018

June 30, 
2017 Change %

Change 

Insurance refunds 4 3 1 33.3%

Gains from asset sales 10 75 (65) -86.7%

Other revenues 44 49 (5) -10.2%

Total other revenues 58 127 (69) -54.3%

6.3 Cost of goods sold

Cost of goods sold amounted to 8,928 thousand Euro as of June 30, 2018 (8,355 thousand Euro al June 30, 
2017). The following table shows the breakdown:

(in thousands of Euro)     

Cost of goods sold June 30, 
2018

June 30, 
2017 Change %

Change 

Primary raw materials 4,543 4,024 519 12.9%

Secondary raw materials 4,772 4,477 295 6.6%

Other raw materials 156 160 (4) -2.5%

Other costs for subsidiary and other materials 168 158 10 6.3%

Change of inventories of finished products and 
semi-finished products (711) (464) (247) 53.2%

Total cost of goods sold 8,928 8,355 573 6.9%
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6.4 Service costs 

Service costs amounted to 4.538 thousand Euro as of June 30, 2018 (4,426 thousand Euro as of June 30, 2017). 
The following table shows the breakdown:

(in thousands of Euro)     

Service costs June 30, 
2018

June 30, 
2017 Change %

Change 

Other services costs 398 238 160 67.2%

Insurance contracts 64 65 (1) -1.5%

Software support 71 59 12 20.3%

Directors fees, statutory auditors fees and 
indipendent auditors fees 635 588 47 8.0%

Commissions on sales 1,950 2,295 (345) -15.0%

Administrative and financial services 306 257 49 19.1%

Employee services 15 83 (68) -81.9%

Production services 373 273 100 36.6%

Commercial and marketing costs 287 259 28 10.8%

Maintenance costs 103 59 44 74.6%

Utilities costs 336 250 86 34.4%

Total service costs 4,538 4,426 112 2.5%

6.5 Personnel costs 

Personnel costs amounted to 3,372 thousand Euro as of June 30, 2018 (2,877 thousand Euro as of June 30, 
2017). The following table shows the breakdown: 

(in thousands of Euro)     

Personnel costs June 30, 
2018

June 30, 
2017 Change %

Change 

Wages and salaries 2,536 2,183 353 16.2%

Social security costs 648 571 77 13.5%

Benefit plans costs 186 122 64 52.5%

Other employee costs 2 1 1 100.0%

Total personnel costs 3,372 2,877 495 17.2%
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6.6 Other operating costs 

Other operating costs amounted to 563 thousand Euro as of June 30, 2018 (517 thousand Euro as of June 30, 
2017). The following table shows the breakdown:

(in thousands of Euro)     

Other operating costs June 30, 
2018

June 30, 
2017 Change %

Change 

Representation costs 175 148 27 18.2%

Rents and rentals 103 115 (12) -10.4%

IMU and other indirect taxes 70 40 30 75.0%

Membership fees and other annual costs 48 35 13 37.1%

Provisions for bad debt costs 64 30 34 >100%

Other costs 103 149 (46) -30.9%

Total other operating costs 563 517 46 8.9%

6.7 Depreciation and amortization

Depreciation and amortization amounted to 996 thousand Euro as of June 30, 2018 (675 thousand Euro as of 
June 30, 2017). The following table shows the breakdown:

(in thousands of Euro)     

Depreciation and amortization June 30, 
2018

June 30, 
2017 Change %

Change 

Intangible assets depreciation 192 25 167 >100%

Tangible assets amortization 804 650 154 23.7%

Total depreciation and amortization 996 675 321 47.6%

The change is mainly due to: the first consolidation of the income data of the subsidiary LaBiotre for 99 thousand 
Euro, the amortization of know-how and the amortization of machinery fair value from LaBiotre purchase price 
allocation for 151 thousand Euro.
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6.8 Finance income and expenses

Finance income and finance costs amounted to negative 66 thousand Euro as of June 30, 2018 (positive 39 
thousand Euro as of June 30, 2017). The following table shows their breakdown: 

(in thousands of Euro)     

Finance income / (costs) June 30, 
2018

June 30, 
2017 Change %

Change 

Interest income and other financial income 3 7 (4) -57.1%

Exchange rates income 45 2 43 >100%

Finance income 48 9 39 >100%

Interest costs and other financial expenses (81) (60) (21) 35.0%

Exchange rates costs (33) (36) 3 -8.3%

Finance expenses (114) (96) (18) 18.8%

Share of profit of associates and joint ventures - 125 (125) -100%

Total finance income / (expenses) (66) 38 -104 <-100%
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6.9 Income taxes

Income taxes amounte to 648 thousand Euro as of June 30, 2018 (557 thousand Euro as of June 30, 2017). The 
following table shows their breakdown:

(in thousands of Euro)     

Income taxes June 30, 
2018

June 30, 
2017 Change %

Change 

Income taxes 699 501 198 39.5%

Deferred taxes (51) 56 (107) <-100%

Total income taxes 648 557 91 16.3%

The following table shows the reconciliation between the effective IRES and IRAP costs and the theoretical 
income tax costs:

(in thousands of Euro)     

Income tax recovery / (expense) June 30, 
2018

June 30, 
2017

Profit before income tax 2.481 1.779

Theoretical income tax IRES 24.00% (595) 24.00% (427)

Theoretical income tax IRAP 3.90% (97) 3.90% (69)

Theoretical income taxes (692) (496)
Other permanent deductions 114 33

Other non-deductible permanent expenses (33) (21)

Non-deductible amortization 30 (2)

Revaluation and devaluations of investments - 36

Interests costs and financial expenses 4 (9)

Penalties and other taxes (6) (6)

Devaluations and other provisions (5) 6

Other changes (6) (56)

Total (594) (459)
Permanent differences IRAP (including employee 
costs) (54) (42)

Total income taxes 26.12% (648) 31.31% (557)

The income tax rate (calculated as a ratio between income taxes and profit before tax) was 26% during the first 
half of 2018, decreasing by 5 percentage points from the first half of 2017 (31%).
This change is mainly due to the tax benefit of Patent Box, which is calculated on the years 2015, 2016, 2017 
and the first half of 2018. Patent Box has been applied thanks to the prior agreement signed with Italian Fiscal 
Authority.
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6.10 Earnings per share (basic and diluted)

Applying IAS 33, data used to calculate basic and diluted earnings per share are shown below.
Basic earning per share is calculated as a ratio between net profit for the period attributable to equity holders of 
the Parent company and the weighted average number of listed shares during the period. There are no diluted 
profit effects on earnings per share.0

The following table shows the data used to calculate basic and diluted earnings per share.

(in thousands of Euro)   

June 30, 2018 June 30, 2017

Net profit for the period – attributable to ordinary equity holders of the 
Parent company (thousand Euro) 1,833 1,222

Average ordinary shares listed in the period  11,148,252   11,148,900
Basic and diluted profit for the period attributable to ordinary 
shares (Euro) 0.16 0.20



Page 47Interim condensed consolidated financial statements as of June 30, 2018

7. Net financial indebtedness

Net financial indebtedness is calculated in respect to “ESMA – European Security and Markets Authority” 
recommendations (“ESMA update of the CESR recommendations 809/2004 - The consistent implementation of 
Commission Regulation (EC) No implementing the Prospectus Directive”, March 20, 2013).

The following table shows net financial indebtedness as of June 30, 2018 and as of December 31, 2017.

(in thousands of Euro)   

 June 30, 2018 December 31, 
2017

A. Cash - 27 
B. Other cash equivalents 1,142 1,009 
C. Liquidity (A) + (B) 1,142 1,036 

D. Current bank debt 1,563 1,381 

E. Current portions of non current debt 1,885 1,238 

Leasing 434 158 

Bank loans 1,451 1,080 
F. Other current financial debt - 247 
G. Current financial debt (D) + (E) + (F) 3,448 2,866 
H. Net current financial indebtedness (G) – (C) 2,306 1,830 
I. Non current loans and borrowings 7,467 4,313 

Leasing 2,730 227 
Bank loans 4,737 4,086 

J. Other non current loans - - 
K. Non current financial indebtness (I) + (J) 7,467 4,313 
L. Net financial indebtedness (H) + (K) 9,773 6,143 
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The following table shows the reconciliation between the changes in non-current and current financial liabilities 
as of June 30, 2018 and as of June 30, 2017.

(in thousands of Euro)     

Non current and current financial liabilities December 
31, 2017 Cash flow

Non 
monetary 

changes

June 30, 
2018

Interest-bearing loans and borrowings 6,547 1,398   7,945 

Leasing liabilities 385 2,345 240 2,970 

Liabilities due to a shareholder for the purchase of 
own shares 247 (247)     

Total non current and current financial 
liabilities 7,179 3,496 240 10,915 

(in thousands of Euro)     

Non current and current 
financial liabilities

December 
31, 2016 Cash flow

Non 
monetary 

changes

Aggrega-
tions

December 31, 
2017

Interest-bearing loans and 
borrowings 4,692 1,538  - 317 6,547 

Leasing liabilities 1,081 (697) 1  - 385 

Liabilities due to a shareholder 
for the purchase of own shares 489 (242)  -  - 247 

Total non current and 
current financial liabilities 6,262 599 1 317 7,179 
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8. Related parties 

Transactions with related parties were made at arm’s lenght applying conditions consistent with the market, i.e. 
the same conditions would apply with independent parties.
In order to determine whether related party transactions were made in line with the market, the Group analyzed 
both: quantitative conditions, related to the prices and the elements linked to the prices, and the reasons why the 
Group decided to make operations with related parties rather than with third parties.
Related party transactions did not include atypical or unusual operations.

In addition to IAS24 prescriptions on “Notes to financial statements on related parties operations”, Consob 
communication 6064293 (issued on July 28, 2006) requires related party transactions affecting the financial 
statements to be disclosed (those classified according to IAS24).

The following table shows those transactions. The impact that such transaction have on the Group net profit and 
cash flows, should be analyzed with consideration that the main related party transactions are identical to the 
operations with independent third parties.

In summary the following table shows related party transactions.

(in thousands of Euro)     

June 30, 
2018 % incid. December 

31, 2017 % incid.

from companies related to equity holders and 
directors of BioDue S.p.A. 50 0.3%   

Property, plant and equipment 50 0.3%   
Current assets 50 0.2%   

from Pharcomed Corp. 889 7.0% 517 4.6%

from companies related to equity holders and 
directors of BioDue S.p.A. 218 1.7% 245 2.2%

Trade receivables 1,107 8.7% 762 6.7%
Current assets 1,107 5.1% 762 4.0%
TOTAL ASSETS 1,107 2.5% 762 2.0%

due to equity holders and directors of BioDue S.p.A.   0.0% 191 2.7%

due to statutory auditors of BioDue S.p.A. 8 0.1% 3 0.0%

due to companies related to equity holders and 
directors of BioDue S.p.A. 1,813 24.6% 1,583 22.2%

Trade payables 1,821 24.7% 1,777 24.9%
Current liabilities 1,821 14.4% 1,777 15.8%
TOTAL LIABILITIES 1,821 8.3% 1,777 10.3%
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The following table discloses income from related parties:

(in thousands of Euro)     

June 30, 
2018 % incid. June 30, 

2017 % incid.

     

Revenues from Labiotre S.r.l. (*) - 0,0% 2 0.0%

Revenues from Pharcomed Corp. 722 3.5% 237 1.3%

Revenues from companies related to equity holders 
and directors of BioDue S.p.A.

Revenues from contracts with customers 2 0.0% - 0.0%

Ricavi da contratti con clienti 724 3.5% 239 1.3%
     

Revenues from companies related to equity holders 
and directors of BioDue S.p.A.

Other revenues - 0.0% 72 56.8%

Altri proventi - 0.0% 72 56.8%
     

Costs to Labiotre S.r.l. (*) - 0.0% (939) -11.2%

Costs to companies related to equity holders and 
directors of BioDue S.p.A. (2,235) -25.0% (2,482) -29.7%

Cost of goods sold (2,235) -25.0% (3,421) -40.9%

     

Costs to Labiotre S.r.l. (*) - 0.0% (4) -0.1%

Costs to Pharcomed Corp. 33 0.7% - 0.0%

Costs to equity holders and directors of BioDue 
S.p.A. 0 0.0% (98) -2.2%

Costs to statutory auditors of BioDue S.p.A. (8) -0.2% (5) -0.1%

Costs to companies related to equity holders and 
directors of BioDue S.p.A. (1) -0.0% 32 0.7%

Service costs 24 -0.5% (75) 1.7%
     

Costs to companies related to equity holders and 
directors of BioDue S.p.A. (91) -16.2% (46) -8.9%

Other operating costs (91) -16.2% (46) -8.9%
     
Costs to companies related to equity holders and 
directors of BioDue S.p.A. (1) -0.1% 0 0.0%

Amortization and depreciation (1) -0.1% 0 0.0%
Operating profit (1,579) -62.0% (3,231) -185.6%
     

Financial charges to Pharcomed Corp. (15) -13.2% (3) -3.1%

Financial charges (15) -13.2% (3) -3.1%

(*) first time consolidation is after June 30, 2017 
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9. Interest-bearing loans and borrowings

The Group did not enter into agreements or sign financial contracts or other acts, whether or not linked to one 
another, whose effects do not result from the financial statements but which effects may expose the parent 
company to risks or generate significant benefits.

Interest-
bearing 
loans and 
borrowings 

Type Initial debt

Mortgage 
amount as 

of June 30, 
2018

Delivery 
date

Expiration 
date

Debt as of 
June 30, 

2018

Current 
debt

Non current 
debt

Debt 
over 5 years

CREDEM bank 
Loan Unsecured loan 95  November 

30, 2016
August 30, 

2021 65 20 45 0

CREDEM bank 
Loan Unsecured loan 998  April 24, 

2016
April 28, 

2021 605 200 405 0

CR Firenze bank 
Loan Unsecured loan 682  September 

21, 2015
September 

21, 2018 115 115 0 0

CR Firenze bank 
Loan Unsecured loan 800  January 30, 

2017
January 30, 

2024 643 112 462 69

CR Firenze bank 
Loan Unsecured loan 1,000  January 19, 

2018
January 18, 

2021 861 333 528 0

Chianti bank 
Mortgage loan Mortgage loan 500 1,000 June 8, 

2016
June 30, 

2026 406 48 358 0

CR Firenze bank 
Mortgage loan Mortgage loan 1,300 2,600 August 31, 

2016
August 31, 

2023 966 184 750 32

CR Firenze bank 
Mortgage loan Mortgage loan 1,800 3,600 February 15, 

2017
January 30, 

2027 1,599 175  731 693

CAMBIANO 
bank Loan Unsecured loan 600  July 1, 2015 June 30, 

2020 253 121 132 0

CREDEM bank 
Loan Unsecured loan 750  February 

28, 2018
February 
28, 2023 701 148 553 0

Total 
loans and 
borrowings 
nominal value

     6,214    

Amortized cost      (26)    

Total net 
value      6,188    



Page 52 Interim condensed consolidated financial statements as of June 30, 2018

10. Other notes

10.1 Directors fees, statutory auditors fees and independent auditors 
fees
Directors fees, statutory auditors fees and independent auditors fees to be paid in the first half of 2018 by the 
parent company are as follow:
- Directors fees, 429 thousand Euro,
- Statutory auditors, 19 thousand Euro,
- Independent auditors EY S.p.A., 25 thousand Euro.

10.2 2 Derivatives and other financial instruments issued
The Group did not issue other financial instruments as by n. 19 par. 1 article 2427 Civil Code.

10.3 Financial instruments at fair value
As of June 30, 2018, the Group is not using derivatives.

10.4 Stock Option
During the April 26, 2018 shareholders’ meeting of BioDue S.p.A. authorized a share capital increase of 
maximum 300,000 ordinary shares was authorized for the Stock Option Plan Service (in the years 2018-
2020). Stock Options may be assigned to directors and employees of the parent company, the subsidiaries, the 
associates and joint ventures.

The Stock Option Plan is an incentive program that fosters the loyalty of top management and executives at the 
parent company, subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures.
The Stock Option Plan links stock option rights to the Group’s strategic objectives, aligning top management’s 
incentives and the executives’ incentives with the Group’s goals.
The Board of Directors of BioDue S.p.A. will assign Stock Option rights onc the prospective 2018 financial 
statements are approved by the shareholders’ meeting.

10.5 Own shares repurchases
On April 26, 2018 the shareholders’ meeting of BioDue S.p.A. authorized the buyback of maximum 200,000 own 
shares.
Own shares buyback is mainly aimed to form a own shares stock, in coherence with BioDue’s strategic objectives. 
Those shares can be used in the context of possible extraordinary operations, including the allocation to the 
counterparts of our own brand trade relations.
As of June 30, 2018 the parent company owned 4.500 own shares (in reduction of the equity for 20 thousand 
Euro).

10.6 Financial risk management
The Group has financial liabilities consisting mainly of bank loans and lease contracts, whose maturity is in the 
medium and long term.
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Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is defined as the possibility that: the Group cannot maintain its payment commitments due to the 
inability to find new funds (funding liquidity risk), the Group cannot sell its assets (asset liquidity risk), or the 
Group has to pay high of costs to cope with its obligations.
This risk is linked to the possibility that the Group could have difficulties in obtaining the funding necessary to 
support its operating activity at the right time.
Cash flows, fund needs and liquidity are highly monitored, with the aim of guaranteeing an effective and efficient 
management of financial resources.
The following table shows a deadline analysis based on contractual obligations of undiscounted reimbursement 
related to current and non-current loans, leasing liabilities and other financial liabilities as of June 30, 2018.

(in thousands of Euro)     

Total 
payments 

as 

Within 12 
months

Between 1 
and 5 years

Over 5 
years

Current bank debt 1,564 1,564   

Interest-bearing loans and borrowings  6,188  1,451 3,943  794 

Leasing  3,165  434  2,731  

Other financial liabilities     

Total  10,917  3,449  6,674  794 

The Group does not have any covenant on the interest-bearing loans and receivables.

Risks related to interest rates
The Group holds assets and liabilities sensitive to changes in interest rates. These assets and liabilities are 
necessary for the management of liquidity and financial requirements.
These assets and liabilities are subject to a rate risk that is in part mitigated through fixed rate financing 
contracts.

Credit risk
The Group is exposed to the risk that the claims may not be honored at maturity, because of the obligator 
financial conditions.
As such, credit risk is related to the increase in seniority of credits, the risk of insolvency and the increase in 
claims under insolvency proceedings.
The consequent impairment may bring to delete the credit.
The Group adopts a credit management policy aimed to: assess customers reliability, monitor expected recovery 
flows, issue payment reminders, allow extended credit conditions where deemed necessary or appropriate and 
manage legal claims litigation.

Exchange rate risk
The Group carries out operations in currencies other than Euro. This exposes the Group to the risk arising from 
fluctuations in exchange rates between different currencies. 
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10.7 Significant non-recurring events and operations 
In the first half of 2018 there were no significant non recurring operations made by the parent company. 

10.8 Transactions deriving from atypical or unusual operations
The Group did not make atypical or unusual operations (those operations that by significance/relevance, nature 
of the counterparts, object, determination of the transfer price and timing) that may give rise to doubts to the 
completeness and correctness of the information in the interim condensed consolidated financial statements,the 
conflict of interest, the safeguard of the Group’s assets and the protection of minority interests. 

10.9 Subsequent events
1. BioDue acquired 43.42% of ownership in the company Farcoderma S.r.l. 
On July 31, 2018 BioDue S.p.A. acquired 43.42% of ownership in Farcoderma by 1,350,000 Euro. Farcoderma 
is a company that produces nutritional supplements, medical devices, cosmetics and feeding products for 
veterinary use. Its production plants are based in the province of Bergamo.

Farcoderma in 2017 obtained the following results:
-Revenues from contracts with customers, 6 million Euro;
-EBITDA, 1.6 million Euro (equal to 27.1% of total revenues);
-Net financial indebtedness of 0.7 million Euro.

Agreements are being negotiated which will lead to the sharing of an industrial plan and the acquisition of the 
control of Farcoderma by Biodue. 

The additional cost that Biodue will support for acquiring control in Farcoderma won’t exceed Euro 1,650,000. 
This operation is financed both by the company’s resources and medium-term financial indebtedness. 

2. Twenty-year patent concession REWCAPTM for the Chines market
On August 29, 2018 BioDue S.p.A. communicated that it obtained a twenty-year patent concession REWCAPTM 
for the Chinese market. 

BioDue is already in the Chinese market with REWCAPTM, having signed an important contract with a sigificant 
Chinese multinational in the pharmaceutical industry for the delivery of both: production machines using 
REWCAPTM and the first important REWCAPTM packaging quantities. 

REWCAPTM is a new and innovative pharmaceutical product, prviding a significant competitive advantage in the 
market.  

The inverted capsule REWCAPTM is able to mix liquid and solid substances with extreme ease and with some 
advantages compared to traditional forms.

REWCAPTM is applicable to food supplements in liquid form, cosmetics and medical devices. 
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3. Licensing and supply agreement with a global healthcare company

On September 5, 2018 BioDue communicated that it signed an exclusive licensing and supply agreement with a 
global healthcare company in several countries including Russia, Ukraine and CIS area countries. The agreement 
grants marketing rights on a patented respiratory Medical Device. 

Under the agreement, the licensee will take care of distribution, marketing and promotion activities for the 
mentioned product and BioDue will take care of the production.

Through this agreement, which provides for a five-year long-term partnership, BioDue estimates a total potential 
turnover between 3.5 and 4.5 million Euro.

Tavarnelle Val Di Pesa (Florence), September 24, 2018

Vanni Benedetti
Chairman of the Board of Directors of Biodue S.p.A.
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Review report on the interim condensed consolidated financial 
statements
(Translation from the original Italian text)

To the Shareholders of
BioDue S.p.A.

Introduction
We have reviewed the interim condensed consolidated financial statements, comprising the
statement of financial position, the statements of income, the statement of comprehensive income,
the statement of cash flows and the statement of changes in equity and the related explanatory notes
of BioDue S.p.A. and its subsidiaries (the “ABC Group”) as of 30 June  2018. The Directors of BioDue
S.p.A. are responsible for the preparation of the interim condensed consolidated financial statements
in conformity with the International Financial Reporting Standard applicable to interim financial
reporting (IAS 34) as adopted by the European Union. Our responsibility is to express a conclusion on
these interim condensed consolidated financial statements based on our review.

Scope of Review
We conducted our review in accordance with International standards on review engagements “ISRE
2410 – Review of Interim Financial Information performed by the Independent Auditor of the Entity”.
A review of interim condensed consolidated financial statements consists of making inquiries,
primarily of persons responsible for financial and accounting matters, and applying analytical and
other review procedures. A review is substantially less in scope than an audit conducted in
accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISA Italia) and consequently does not enable us
to obtain assurance that we would become aware of all significant matters that might be identified in
an audit. Accordingly, we do not express an audit opinion on the interim condensed consolidated
financial statements.

Conclusion
Based on our review, nothing has come to our attention that causes us to believe that the interim
condensed consolidated financial statements of BioDue Group as of June 30, 2018 are not prepared,
in all material respects, in conformity with the International Financial Reporting Standard applicable
to interim financial reporting (IAS 34) as adopted by the European Union.

Florence, September 24, 2018

EY S.p.A.
Signed by: Lapo Ercoli, Partner

This report has been translated into the English language solely for the convenience of international
readers
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